# TRANSFORMATIVE GOVERNANCE FOR A BLUE TRANSITION IN FINLAND (TRAGORA)

26.09.2023

Niko Soininen . Markku Ollikainen . Helena Valve . Jukka Similä . Niina Kotamäki . Anna Björk . Jani Lukkarinen . Sanna Lötjönen . Suvi-Tuuli Puharinen . Antti Belinskij . Päivi Haapasaari . Riina Toivanen . Harri Kuosa . Eerika Albrecht . Anna-Stiina Heiskanen















### Contents

Executive summary	03
<ol> <li>Introduction</li> <li>Analytical framework</li> <li>Sectors in need of materialising blue economic potentials</li> </ol>	05 08 09
3.1 Offshore wind power generation: realising an untapped potential with ecological safeguards	09
3.2 Commercial fishing: transforming underutilized or undervalued fish stocks into blue resources	14
4. Sectors in need of decoupling of economic value generation and their negative impact on waters	17
4.1 Agriculture: increasing ambition and effectiveness in existing policies	17
4.2 Aquaculture: harmonising environmental and economic aspirations in fish farming	24
4.3 Forestry: introducing policies for governing water emissions	27
4.4 Hydropower: Removing small-scale operations and introducing environmental flows to mid-sized and large operations	30
5. Sectors in need of phase-out: peat production	33
6. Cross-cutting policies: improving the bite of water and marine planning and management	34
7. Synthesis	37
References	42



### **Executive summary**

Despite all efforts, not all lakes, rivers, coastal waters, and marine waters have yet achieved good ecological and environmental status. The overall status of inland waters has not improved during the recent years. Climate change already significantly threatens the achievement of good ecological status through various mechanisms, including increased precipitation and runoff. Aquatic and marine biodiversity are particularly hit by various human activities, such as hydropower generation and prospected large-scale offshore wind power developments. Moreover, economic activities (particularly food and energy production) operating in fresh or marine waters, or directly affecting them, have an important role in climate change mitigation.

While Finland and the EU are committed to promoting a transition of the blue economy by renewing the structure of the economy towards more sustainable and innovative production and consumptions patterns, these aspirations are yet to materialise. Innovations and policy reforms play key roles in the renewal of the blue economy so that it can contribute to the environmental targets while creating economic value and social wellbeing. The problem is that in many blue economic sectors current innovation and growth policies are met with significant challenges, such as profitability, social acceptability, and lack a clear vision for the future to guide and encourage investment and the renewal of businesses to ecological, social, and economic ends. Finally, aspirations to considerably upscale economic activity for tackling one planetary crisis (e.g., climate change mitigation) may not be coherent with tackling the other crises (ecological status of waters and biodiversity loss).

BlueAdapt project (funded by the Strategic Research Council of the Academy of Finland, 2018–2023) focuses on supporting the blue transition through high-level academic research and continuous stakeholder interaction. As part of the project, the consortium has developed a Transformative Governance Framework for a Blue Transition (TRAGORA). TRAGORA aims to help Finnish policy makers to navigate the complexity of policies related to the blue transition. TRAGORA provides a critical discussion of the current state and potential of both key innovations and policy developments of the blue economy in Finland, with the aim of developing forward-looking policy recommendations and support mechanisms for overcoming deadlocks, deficiencies and unsustainable practices in innovation and policy.

The normative backdrop of TRAGORA work is that economic activity must limit itself to ecological limits concerning the ecological status of waters and aquatic biodiversity. Moreover, the blue economic sectors need to assume their societal share of climate mitigation efforts. TRAGORA focuses on the key economic sectors directly reliant on waters or affecting the status of waters: 1) offshore wind power generation; 2) commercial fishing with a focus on selected species; 3) agriculture; 4) aquaculture; 5) forestry; 6) hydropower, and 7) peat production. All these sectors generate blue economic value, but they also have a considerable impact on aquatic and marine ecological status and biodiversity. We have left emergent sectors (e.g., seabed mining, harvesting of algae and blue biotechnology) out of scope as their development is still in their infancy and the economic potentials in Finland are unclear. Also, the increasingly important groundwaters are not specifically considered, as the BlueAdapt project's focus was on sectors impacting the ecological quality of surface waters. Moreover, not all economic sectors (e.g., mining and the forest industry) are included in our explicit analysis, but the analysis on the Water Framework Directive and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive and the planning systems contained therein, are also applicable to these sectors.



In TRAGORA, we divide the above seven economic sectors in three pathways depending on their capacity to create economic benefits and social welfare, as well as on their contribution to tackling the triple environmental crises, aquatic and marine ecological status, biodiversity and climate change. The three categories are the following:

- Sectors with underutilised blue economy potentials: the materialisation of blue economic potentials has not fully taken place despite social-ecological opportunities. This category includes offshore wind power generation and utilisation of selected, currently under-utilised fish stocks. The economic use of the under-utilised resources could be sustainably increased.
- Sectors in need of decoupling of economic value generation and deterioration of waters. These include economic sectors that serve key societal functions, such as food and energy production, but that should over time aspire toward zero-impact on the environment by way of technological, social and governance innovation. The category includes agriculture, aquaculture, forestry, and (large-scale) hydropower generation. The growth of these sectors is contingent on the decoupling between production and the negative impact on the status of waters.
- Sectors in need of controlled phase out. For these sectors, the ecological harm outweighs the socio-economic benefit that they produce. This category contains peat production and small scale (less than 2 MW) hydropower operations. The harmful aquatic and climate impacts of such activities need to be minimised in the short term and they should be out-phased altogether in the near future. These sectors and activities have no or very little growth opportunities, and their overall benefit to the society is negative.

After analysing the three categories of blue economic sectors, we discuss cross-cutting policies, particularly the policy aspiration to reach the good status of marine and inland waters as it plays a major role in the governance of all or most of the blue economic activities.

Our main finding is that economic sectors in different categories (underutilised blue potentials; decoupling; phase-out) require differentiated policies to achieve a blue transition. Underutilised resources require clear public goals and support for developing and upscaling innovations and economic activity in the sectors with clear environmental boundaries and safeguards. Our analysis of the decoupled sectors embarks from the recognition that societies cannot do without these sectors and the goods that they produce (e.g., energy, food, and industrial raw materials) but the sectors require policies pushing and incentivising economic renewal for decreasing and ultimately eliminating much of the negative environmental impact of these activities. Controlled phase-out sectors are detrimental to climate, biodiversity, and/or water quality, and their capacity to generate social wellbeing and economic benefit at scale are poor. These sectors call for phase-out plans with regulatory and economic steering instruments to match.



## **1. Introduction**

#### Motivation and aims

Despite all efforts, not all lakes, rivers, coastal waters, and marine waters are yet to achieve good ecological and environmental status. The status of inland waters has not improved during the recent years, but some 80% of the lakes and 65% of the rivers are in good or excellent ecological status, while coastal waters are most affected (Finnish Environment Institute 2023). Climate change already undermines the achievement of good ecological status through various mechanisms, such as increasing precipitation and runoff (Huttunen et al. 2015). Also, aquatic and marine biodiversity are particularly hit by various human activities, such as hydropower generation and prospected largescale offshore wind power developments (e.g., Iho et al. 2022). Moreover, economic activities (particularly food and energy production) operating in fresh or marine waters, or directly affecting them, have an important role in climate change mitigation. Ideally, economic sectors operating in or drawing from waters would play a key role in helping societies to tackle the triple planetary crises (ecological status of waters, biodiversity loss, climate change) while allowing the sectors to innovate, renew their business models, and create economic returns and social wellbeing (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry 2016; European Commission 2021).

Meeting the challenges requires a sustainable blue transition in all the blue economic sectors. Yet, in many of these sectors current innovation and growth policies are met with significant challenges, such as low profitability, poor social acceptability, and a lack of clear vision for the future to guide and encourage investment and the renewal of businesses. This results in business-as-usual operations in which the sectors are not renewing and not positioned to help tackle the climate change, biodiversity, and water status challenges. Furthermore, without a clear vision, aspirations to considerably upscale economic activity for tackling one planetary crisis, such as climate change, may not be coherent with tackling the other crises, like ecological status of waters and biodiversity loss.

Our definition of blue economy contains on the one hand the aspiration to maintain or reach good ecological or environmental status of both marine and freshwaters (while also contributing to climate change and biodiversity loss mitigation where possible), and on the other hand supporting blue economic activity utilising aquatic ecosystem services provided by them (UN 2017; FAO 2018; Eikeset et al. 2018; European Commission 2021). This perspective requires the consideration of multiple environmental, economic, and social co-benefits simultaneously. Our understanding of blue economy contains all the key economic sectors directly reliant on waters or affecting the status of waters: 1) offshore wind power generation; 2) commercial fishing of selected species; 3) agriculture; 4) aquaculture; 5) forestry; 6) hydropower, and 7) peat production. The normative backdrop of TRAGORA, which stands for Transformative governance for a blue transition in Finland, is that economic activity in these sectors must limit itself to the ecological limits concerning the ecological status of waters and aquatic biodiversity. Moreover, the blue economic sectors need to assume their societal share of climate mitigation efforts. TRAGORA focuses on policy pathways to help blue economic activities support the achievement ecological status of waters, climate change mitigation, and biodiversity loss mitigation goals.



The need to provide clarity to the complexity of blue economic and environmental policies has motivated the work behind this publication. The aim of TRAGORA is to help Finnish policy makers to navigate this complexity and provide science-based knowledge on how the policies in respective sectors of the blue economy could be developed to meet multiple environmental and societal goals simultaneously. We shed light on where the key policy lock-ins are jamming development, and how they could be managed.

#### Scientific groundings, methodology and structure

TRAGORA is based on transdisciplinary research of the BlueAdapt project, funded by the Academy of Finland Strategic Research Council 2018–2023. It is a result of a coproductive process within the BlueAdapt consortium and with stakeholders to create solutions to meet the multiple environmental and societal aspirations related to the different sectors of the blue economy (see e.g., Valve et al. 2023). The BlueAdapt consortium has analysed local questions and processes, such as the permitting and ecological compensations related to a planned major pulp mill operation in Northern Savo, as well as fish farming operations in the Finnish Archipelago Sea. Simultaneously, the consortium has explored and evaluated the functionality of current EU and Finnish blue economic and environmental policies. The process has been open ended involving academics from Finnish universities and research institutes (Finnish Environment Institute; Natural Resources Institute Finland; University of Helsinki; University of Eastern Finland; University of Lapland), ministries (Ministry of the Environment and Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry), as well as companies from several blue economy sectors. In TRAGORA, different research streams of the BlueAdapt project meet. This means that TRAGORA brings together findings from:

- two regional transition arena processes,
- scientific analyses,
- · literature reviews,
- · legal doctrinal analyses,
- $\cdot$  development of integrated ecological and water quality modelling platform, and
- co-creation events organised within the consortium.

The BlueAdapt project and TRAGORA have not been linear processes and we have sought to respond to societal needs as they rise. We have also followed new research avenues that have opened through mutual learning within the consortium and between the consortium and our stakeholders. We have learnt in the process that blue economy is a particularly tricky subject to analyse as it covers so many sectors, activities, and societal functions, and invites We have learnt in the process that blue economy is a particularly tricky subject to analyse as it covers so many sectors, activities, and societal functions, and invites difficult questions of policy scope and content. For this reason, we have had to make some omissions (e.g., not discussing all blue economic sectors) and TRAGORA as result of our work is necessarily an imperfect snapshot of the blue economy and its policies.



Despite its breadth of sectoral activities, TRAGORA is not an attempt to provide an allinclusive analysis of water-related activities, pressures, or dilemmas, but to generate an understanding of the dominant challenges and policy pathways to manage them. We have left emergent sectors (e.g., seabed mining, harvesting of algae and blue biotechnology) out of scope as the development is still in their infancy, and the economic potentials in Finland are unclear. Also, groundwaters are left out due to the BlueAdapt project's focus on surface waters. These limitations notwithstanding, we are confident that TRAGORA is a step forward in the understanding and governance of the blue economy. Our contributions are mainly synthetical and conceptual, which allow taking an analytical birds-eye view of the blue economy and its policies in Finland to help decision-makers navigate the difficult terrain.

A key output of TRAGORA is that we categorize the seven blue economic sectors mentioned earlier in three groups based on their capacity to contribute to tackling the triple environmental challenges (status of waters, biodiversity, and climate change) and in creating economic benefits and social wellbeing. The three categories are the following:

- Sectors with underutilised blue potentials: in this category, the materialisation of blue economy potentials has not fully taken place despite social-ecological opportunities. The category includes offshore wind power generation, and the transformation of underutilized fish stocks, such as cyprinids, for human consumption. Both sectors have ample possibilities for sustainable growth if there is sufficient policy support for this, and the foreseeable environmental trade-offs particularly to the marine biodiversity are carefully considered.
- Sectors in need of decoupling of economic value generation and deterioration of waters: This category includes economic domains that serve key societal functions (e.g., food and energy production) but that should over time aspire toward zero-impact on the environment by way of technological, social, and governance innovation. The category includes agriculture, aquaculture, forestry, and large-scale hydropower. The growth of these sectors is contingent on the decoupling between production and the negative impact on the status of waters.
- Sectors in need of a controlled phase out. This category contains peat production and small-scale hydropower generation (less than 2 MW capacity). In the phase-out category, the ecological harm (ecological status of waters, biodiversity, and climate change) of the activity outweighs the socio-economic benefit that the sector produces. The harmful aquatic impacts of such activities need to be minimised in the short term and may face termination altogether over the long term. They have no or very little growth opportunities in the current policy setting.

Structurally, TRAGORA begins in Chapter 2 by laying out the analytical framework that guides our exploration of policy lock-ins and how to cope with them. In chapters 3–5, we focus on the policy lock-ins and their management options in the three categories of blue (economic) sectors, namely sectors with underutilised potentials (chapter 3), sectors in need of decoupling (chapter 4), and sectors to be phased out (chapter 5). In chapter 6, we focus on policies steering the good ecological/environmental status of waters that cut across economic sectors. In chapter 7, we synthesise the analysis and discuss key policy initiatives to help manage the triple environmental challenges in the blue economic sectors.



## 2. Analytical framework

Curbing the negative environmental and economic trends into opportunities for a transition in blue economy lays high expectations on governance. The governance of blue economy transition should be simultaneously agile in shifting policy lock-ins and economic path-dependencies, predictable in supporting investments and economic renewal, legitimate in sharing the burden of environmental efforts between sectors, and coherent with the existing water and marine, biodiversity, as well as climate policies. A key question here is how public policies and instruments, including law, can facilitate and support private economic and social activity to advance the blue economy and to reach the set environmental goals.

TRAGORA-work draws from the transition theory which analyses policy conditions for fostering and upscaling technological, social, and governance innovation (Geels and Schot 2007: Upham et al. 2014: Kivimaa and Kern 2016: Margues et al. 2018: Ghosh et al. 2021). Innovations are often disruptive with the potential to stretch and transform the existing regimes (Smith and Raven 2012). Thus, innovations and forerunner companies gain a central role in the transformation of the blue economy. Scholarship around sustainability transition has evolved to understand how path-breaking innovations evolve into niche solutions that contribute to changes in sociotechnical regimes (Lazarevic and Valve 2020). Research in the field built on historical cases show how niche solutions develop, grow, and eventually topple an incumbent regime (Geels and Schot 2007). For instance, technical advances in manure processing have created still widely underutilized opportunities to increase nutrient-use efficiency (Valve et al. 2020). Vertical farming and cellular agriculture hold promise for decoupling much of the environmental impact of food production. In the context of all these innovations and the wider socio-technological transition, the big question is how can we offer fertile policy and institutional ground for economic renewal for the different sectors of the blue economy to help tackle the triple planetary challenges?

At present, policies and institutional setups create considerable hurdles for strengthening the environmental, social, and economic capacity of the blue economy. As an example, the EU and Finnish legal systems contain forces both accelerating and braking transitions in the blue economic sectors (Soininen et al. 2021). We also acknowledge that such braking forces cannot typically be overcome by any flick-of-the-switch policy changes as the policies have coevolved on certain material, practical, and economic trajectories building lock-ins. However, at the same time the strengthening of sustainable blue economy calls for new measures to support market (re)formation.

Based on transition theory and our analysis, changes needed in the operation of markets and value creation possibilities vary considerably from one sector to another. The changes in different sectors may require changes in consumer and raw material markets, market change so that a competitive edge cannot be gained by creating significant negative environmental externalities, new economic opportunities arising from the improvement of the water status and the aquatic resources, or how public services support value creation. In addition to these market-mediated pathways, change may be driven by non-market arrangements. However, blue economy does not necessarily follow a linear pathway because of its multi-scalar governance dynamics, strong ecological feedback mechanisms, and the fragmentation of land-based and water-based policy and legislative frameworks. Bearing these lessons from the transition theory and research in mind, we move next to analyse the policy lock-ins and ways to manage them in our seven economic sectors.



# **3. Sectors in need of materialising blue economic potentials**

# 3.1 Offshore wind power generation: realising an untapped potential with ecological safeguards

#### Context ty

The demand for renewable electricity is rapidly growing, and this growth will likely continue in the future due to strengthening climate change mitigation efforts, the disruption of the energy markets due to the Ukraine war and the shift towards hydrogen economy (IEA 2018; Koljonen et al. 2020; AFRY 2020; Keramidas et al. 2020). Wind-energy is the fastest growing electricity generation technology in the OECD countries, Finland included (IEA 2020; Lund et al. 2021). In Finland, the growth of the wind power sector has mostly taken place on land, and currently there is only one offshore wind farm in operation. This will likely change in the future as Finland boasts considerable potential for offshore wind power generation (Granskog et al. 2018). Still, also offshore wind power generation brings about adverse environmental impacts, e.g., for birds and bats, migratory fish stocks and flora on the sea floor, but these impacts could be largely mitigated with careful spatial planning.

Offshore wind power generation has important advantages in comparison to its onshore counterpart. Offshore wind farms tend to cause fewer social conflicts than onshore farms because they are further away from residential areas and consequently cause less harm in terms of altered landscapes and noise (Ladenburg 2008). The fact that the Finnish marine waters – excluding coastal waters – are not in private ownership also reduces conflict. Moreover, an offshore wind turbine produces roughly 30% more power than a similar onshore turbine due to larger turbine sizes and economies of scale (Levitt 2011). While this advantage does not yet make offshore wind power generation more cost-effective than onshore generation, this is likely to change in the future. In addition, offshore power generation has features which reduce systemic costs (Granskog et al. 2018; IEA 2019). It provides a more stable power output than onshore windmills because of steadier wind conditions at sea. This, in turn, reduces the problem that intermittent power sources frequently need to be balanced out by the rest of the power producers in the grid. Finally, the electricity grid close to the coastline uses high-voltage lines and is not far away from energy-consuming cities and industries, which translates into less pressure for re-building the existing electricity grid and reduced loss of power thanks to shorter transmission lines.

Currently, the potential of offshore wind power to produce renewable energy is underutilized. Despite the share of renewable energy sources in the production of electricity in Finland has already become significant, there is a considerable need to increase the renewable electricity generation due to the predicted increase of total and renewable electricity demand. This calls for changes in the generation of renewable energy and on how to provide a level playing field between competing electricity generation technologies.

The high cost of offshore wind power generation has been – and still is – a key factor affecting the current lack of development in the sector. The general subsidy scheme for renewable energy, which is based on the technology neutrality principle, has been changed several times and currently contains a combination of two of the most



common subsidy systems: a feed-in-tariff system and an auction system. Onshore wind power operators have won the only competitive biddings organized under the most recent statute. Currently, new wind power operations on land are profitable without any financial support. Hence, it is likely that no new competitive tendering will be organized, and Finland is not planning to establish new offshore wind energy specific support scheme, although EU law (RED II) would allow this, if certain requirements are met. The only offshore wind power facility in place in Finland to date has earned project specific investment support as new techniques were developed. (Similä et al. 2022).

Despite lack of offshore wind energy specific national support scheme, the policy context relevant for offshore wind energy has significantly changed in the last 3–4 years. Technological development has reduced costs and a certain policy lock-ins affecting offshore wind energy have been or are about to be solved. Moreover, the EU provides a variety of support programmes, which are also relevant for offshore wind energy. This development has opened a new outlook for offshore wind energy in Finland as well as more broadly in the EU, and there are currently investment plants for large offshore wind power parks. Some policy lock-ins still remain, however.

### **Policy lock-ins and solutions**

We have recognized six specific policy lock-ins, most of which have since been addressed by policymakers, and some are being considered in ongoing policy processes. These are:

1. Reserving marine areas for wind energy production. Planning decisions have traditionally been made only after a concrete wind farm plan is envisioned by an operator, although plans could be prepared in advance. This has changed since the introduction of maritime spatial plans (MSP), which have been accepted for the Finnish marine waters in 2020. In the MSPs, certain areas are reserved for offshore wind power generation. The nonlegally binding MSPs inform other planning and permit authorities of the most suitable locations for wind power generation, although a legally binding planning decision (typically the general plan) is still required if operations are planned in the territorial waters of Finland.<sup>1</sup> Maritime spatial plans are to be updated at least once in a decade. The MSPs and the general plan are both regulated by the Land-use and Building Act (132/1999, from 1.1.2025 onwards the Land Use Act)). The general plan covers the territorial waters, whereas the maritime spatial plans cover both the territorial waters and the exclusive economic zone. In the exclusive economic zone, both exploration and constructing of wind power operations require a permit from the Council of State under the Finnish Exclusive Economic Zone Act (1058/2004). In 2022, the Council of State gave first three such exploration permissions. In addition, environmental impacts assessment and water permit are required before construction. The MSP is a considerable improvement in reconciling the potential sea-use conflicts between wind power and other interests (e.g., biodiversity) and in offering wind power operators predictability to plan investments ahead. Yet, it remains to be seen whether the MSPs are updated at pace with the rapidly developing offshore wind power sector, and whether their lack of legal bindingness will prove challenging in permitting the operations.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Land Use and Building Act (132/1992) ch 8a as amended by the Act 482/2016 (Finland 2016).



2. Considering the ecological impact of offshore wind power operations, both the Water Framework Directive and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive are based on the idea that their objectives should be taken into account in the implementation of sectoral water use policies in a way that ensures that these water uses are made compatible with achieving the objectives of water management and marine strategies. With regards to the WFD, an offshore wind power project may be situated in coastal waters in the scope of application of the WFD (see more chapter 6). If the wind power project is deemed to cause negative impacts on the status of the coastal water bodies, it requires an exemption from the WFD's objectives. Finnish legislation does not currently contain mechanisms for granting exemptions from the water management objectives during a river basin management planning cycle in connection to the permit processes, which may create a significant legal hurdle for several blue economic activities, offshore wind power included. Currently, Ministry of the Environment is, however, preparing legislative changes concerning this. Furthermore, offshore wind power development may affect the implementation of the MSFD's good marine environmental status goal, that includes wide array of marine environmental aspects like biodiversity, seafloor integrity and seafloor habitats, and underwater noise (Puharinen et al. 2021). While an individual offshore wind power operation can hardly make a significant difference in terms of whether the overall Good Environmental Status in a large marine area is reached or not, the cumulative impacts of several large wind power operations affecting a significant percentage of the seafloor can constitute a pressure on the seafloor integrity, marine biodiversity, and noise levels. Currently the biggest cumulative impacts on i.e., seafloor bottom are observed in the inner coastal waters and inner archipelago of the Bothnian Bay, Archipelago Sea and the Gulf of Finland (Korpinen et al. 2019). In the current legal setting, the marine management or the GES objectives do not have a binding legal implication on permitting of wind power parks (Puharinen et al. 2021; Similä et al. 2022). Furthermore, particularly permitting under the Finnish Water Act focuses on assessing each individual development's environmental impacts in its pinpoint location, which does not allow taking into consideration the cumulative impacts of these operations on the wider state of the marine waters (Pappila - Puharinen 2022). Although it has been proposed that legislative changes would be required to increase the legal weight of the GES objective and the operational environmental targets, no progress has been made so far. This may leave marine environmental status vulnerable to rapid, large-scale offshore wind-power developments. Currently, the environmental impact assessment of offshore wind-power is still under development (Galparsoro et al. 2022).



- 3. Accelerating decision-making. A temporary legislative package (Acts 1144/2022, 1145/2022, 1146/2022 and 1147/2022) aiming to speed up decision-making concerning investments on green transition was accepted in late 2022. The permit authorities handling environmental, or water permits must give priority to those permits, which concern projects fostering green transition, e.g. offshore wind power projects. Moreover, appeals concerning planning decisions relevant for renewable energy production shall be heard by administrative courts as a matter of urgency in relation to other appeals concerning spatial planning and building permit matters. Based on provisional political agreement on the renewable energy directive (Interinstitutional File 2021/0218(COD), the forthcoming renewable energy directive will impose strict time limits for the permit-granting processes of offshore wind energy, which is 2 years in renewables acceleration areas and 3 years outside these areas.
- 4. Using state-owned marine areas for wind energy production. Another recent development concerns the use of state-owned marine areas for wind energy projects. In 2021, the Government adopted an auction model to be applied in the leasing of state marine areas to companies for the project development and construction of offshore wind power. The auction model does not apply to the province of Åland, nor to offshore wind power projects located outside territorial waters in Finland's exclusive economic zone. The auction model aims to accelerate the market-based development of offshore wind power. Metsähallitus, which is the state authority governing state-owned land and water areas, will initially carry out preliminary studies of marine areas and select the areas to be auctioned based the overall benefit of society. Vattenfall Ltd. was selected through auction in 2022 as the operator for first offshore wind energy project, the size of which is at least 1.300 MW.
- 5. Making property tax neutral in relation to the amount of electricity generated. Property tax of wind farms is based on the investment costs according to the law in force. In relation to the electricity generated, the taxation of an offshore wind turbine is higher than that of an onshore one, because of higher costs. The Governmental Programme of Prime Minister Sanna Marin (2019) aimed to change that. However, there have been several twists and turns on this matter without concrete legislative development. Now the Governmental Programme of Prime Minister Petteri Orpo (2023) again indicates that a change is coming. Hence, technically speaking, the matter is a work in progress, but politically widely accepted.
- 6. **Co-operation with neighboring Member States.** The recent development of the EU law is strengthening cooperation on offshore energy between member states. The cooperation concerns both offshore grid planning (regulation (EU) 2022/869) and permit-granting for joint offshore renewable energy projects (provisional political agreement on renewable energy directive, Interinstitutional File 2021/0218(COD)). This development is also encouraging Finland to cooperate more closely with its neighbors.



#### **Conclusions**

The policy developments described above show that many previous policy lock-ins hindering the development of the offshore wind power sector are solved or are about to be solved. The EU strategy to harness the potential of offshore renewable energy (COM(2020)741 final) and the Governmental Programme of former Prime Minister Sanna Marin (2019) symbolize the policy shift towards stronger support for offshore wind power generation. Although it would not be possible to claim that all policy lock-ins have now been solved or are soon to be solved, the policy development has been significant.

Remaining policy lock-ins concern reconciling wind power generation with military radar surveillance as current radar technologies are easily interrupted by the wind power stations and consequently opposed by the Finnish armed forces. There is no technical solution to this presently and the needs of radar surveillance limit significantly the number of marine areas available for offshore wind power particularly in the Gulf of Finland. Moreover, offshore wind power remains more expensive than onshore wind energy at least some years onwards. Still, it looks that policy developments have opened a path for significant development of offshore wind energy.

The growth of offshore wind energy is not without problems. The construction costs of an offshore wind farm are lower in shallow marine areas and often the same areas are important for fish population, fisheries, biodiversity, and landscape. Technological development, including floating turbines, might lower the construction costs of offshore wind farms on the open seas in the future, but the tension between different uses of marine areas will remain. The critical issue for mitigation is location and key instruments for that purpose are maritime spatial plans, general land use plans and water permits. These instruments are in place, so the success of governance depends on their effective use and implementation. There is also a dire need for strengthening the water and marine management considerations and objectives, particularly when it comes to managing the cumulative pressures in the permitting of offshore wind parks to make sure that the development in the sector does not result in environmental degradation and biodiversity loss.

Finally, maritime spatial plans are renewed on a slow pace and hence they are not necessarily updated when permission for the construction of wind farm is under consideration. The coordination of the uses of marine areas could be strengthened with increasing the current speed of MSPs or adopting new non-binding spatial management plan and a clear science-based approach to weighing up the needs of marine diversity and different uses. Interests protected by law, such as protected areas for biodiversity, must be prioritized over wind power, and no exceptions should be granted. This is particularly important for the construction of wind farms in the exclusive economic zone, which is not covered by general land use plan. Moreover, the legislation does not provide solutions in the exclusive economic zone for a situation where several operators are interested in the same sea area. This is a challenge because preparing an application for gaining a water permit is costly. In the territorial sea, the auction model solves this issue. According to the Governmental Programme of Prime Minister Petteri Orpo, a legislative project will be carried out with the aim to coordinate permit processes, compensation and tax matters concerning offshore wind energy projects in the exclusive economic zone with those of wind energy projects in territorial waters and land areas.



# 3.2 Commercial fishing: transforming underutilized or undervalued fish stocks into blue resources

#### Context

In Finland, the structure of fish consumption has changed in recent decades. Although Baltic herring (Clupea harengus), together with the European sprat (Sprattus sprattus), is the most abundant commercial catch species in the Baltic Sea, it may be considered as undervalued fish as the consumption of Baltic herring as human food has significantly declined (Ignatius and Haapasaari 2016; Pihlajamäki et al. 2018; Pihlajamäki et al. 2019; Haapasaari et al. 2021). Instead, imported salmon has gained a dominating role in the consumer market. Currently, only approximately three percent of the Baltic herring caught in Finland ends up in human consumption whereas most of the herring catches are exported or used in Finland as raw material for fish oil and fish meal industry or sold to fur farms to be used as a fur animal feed. This keeps the monetary value of herring catches lower compared to the price of herring sold for human consumption (Pihlajamäki et al. 2018; Haapasaari et al. 2021). At the same time, a sustainable source of animal protein for human remains underutilised.

About 96% of the total Baltic herring catch in 2017 was caught by the trawl fleet (Hanstén et al. 2021). Fishing herring for food differs somewhat from feed-directed fishing due to the higher quality requirements for food fish storage and processing methods. Most of Baltic herring is caught with large trawler vessels, which seek to minimise the need to land their catch to save fuel. Due to quality requirements, only the last trawl catch caught during a trip tends to qualify for human consumption (Pihlajamäki et al. 2018). A structural change from feed to food-directed fishing would call for investments in large trawler vessels (including e.g., on-board freezing equipment) and, alternatively or simultaneously, an increased use of and support for small vessels which would be able to bring the catch to shore more regularly (Pihlajamäki et al. 2018). If the supply of food-quality fish is to be increased, the profitability of trawl fishing the good quality fish should be increased. There are some indications that the recent increase of fuel costs, together with increased food prices and expected reduction in fur farming, may support such a shift in Baltic herring, sprat and bleak (Alburnus alburnus) fishing.

Commercial fishing and the processing of the catch for human consumption generates value from the blue resources. In addition, fishing should be seen as water quality management (removing phosphorus) and population control measure. While fish catches need to remain within sustainable annual yield limits, emergence of underutilized fish stocks can also cause problems. For example, the increase of cyprinids (Cyprinidae) is part of the eutrophication cycle that needs to be cut off. Cyprinids cause turbidity and release of nutrients while feeding on the bottom. However, cyprinids catch seldom generates revenues for fishers as no market for fresh cyprinids. Moreover, the consistent warming of the Baltic Sea is favouring warm water freshwater species, like percids and cyprinids. Thus, the coastal fishing might need to adapt to this changing species composition, while the potential fishery yields of percids and cyprinids are predicted to increase in wide areas (Peltonen and Weigel 2022).

In lakes, increasing vendace (Coregonus albula) fishing is one way to increase the generation of blue value in a sustainable manner. The annual vendace yield from Finnish lakes is 8–13 million kilos, while the total catch by professional fishing was 2.8 million kilos in 2014 (Marjomäki et al. 2016). Fishing of vendace removes nutrients and protects from zooplankton losses (Nürnberg et al. 2019). Vendace is largely consumed as



human food without processing. In the North Savo transition arena, a need for new modes of investment support for vendace fishery were identified (Valve et al. 2019).

For commercial fishing, the key policy instruments include the quota system, fishing permits and the European Maritime, Fisheries and Aquaculture Fund (EMFAF) which aims to enhance the operational conditions of sustainable fisheries over the long term by providing funding for development and innovation projects. In Finland, 71.8 million euros EMFAF funding have been allocated for the 2021–2027 period. The EMFAF has four priorities:

- Fostering sustainable fisheries and the restoration and conservation of aquatic biological resources.
- Fostering sustainable aquaculture activities and processing and marketing of fishery and aquaculture products, thus contributing to food security in the EU.
- Enabling a sustainable blue economy in coastal, island and inland areas, and fostering the development of fishing and aquaculture communities.
- Strengthening international ocean governance and enabling seas and oceans to be safe, secure, clean, and sustainably managed.

Over the last two government periods in Finland, the development of the fisheries sector has become an important policy area with six government strategies and programs in place to set targets for sustainable fisheries development. These policy goals reflect the renewed centrality of blue resources in the EU policies to provide sustainable food protein production under climate change. A key question is whether the subsidies and subsidised measures have the potential to reorganise fishing and the production of fish protein in an environmentally, economically, and socially sustainable way.

#### **Policy lock-ins**

There are problems that require disentangling if the fisheries are to have an important role in sustainable blue economy. This can be approached from three complementary directions, as the policy lock-ins touch fishing activities at sea as well as consumer practices and value-chains on land. In fisheries policy, it has been stated that without specified targets for food use or proactive management of catch, the dominance of feed use of Baltic herring will persist, which applies also to other fish species (Pihlajamäki et al. 2018). An increase in the value of Baltic herring catch, and more efficient fishing and consumption of underutilized fish such as cyprinids, smelt – and to some extent, vendace – requires coordination and development of actions throughout the value-chain that includes fishers (different types of fishing techniques and investments), logistics (ports, sorting, and transportation), processing (new product innovations and processing techniques) and retail (novel consumer products and marketing).

In consumer markets, there are behavioural biases towards domestic fish, as there are no unified certification labels or measures to guarantee availability (Pihlajamäki et al. 2019). Finally, in technical development, the actors have been successful in introducing new process innovations, such as fragmenting technologies and chemical processing that could lead to emergence of novel value-added products. However, it may take a long time for technical innovations, such as new processing technologies to turn fish biomass into chemical, pharmaceutical or cosmetics industry materials or fragmenting the protein component of fish to be utilised in other products, to materialise as actual consumer products.



#### Solutions to lock-ins

Blue economy could benefit from a stronger coupling of the commercial fishing of Baltic herring, sprat, and cyprinids, with the food system. This calls for changes in consumer and raw material markets. Along with market changes, measures are needed to improve the operational conditions of professional fisheries.

For the markets to evolve, regulatory and policy changes are needed:

- EMFAF support needs to be seen increasingly as means to enhance a blue economy transformation. This means that EMFAF support should be allocated in a strategic way to strengthen the supply of e.g., Baltic herring and cyprinids for human consumption. In the current programme period, investments in the development of the value chain of underutilised fish are allocated 10 % higher subsidy share than other investments. This is a welcomed measure that needs to be strengthened further if impact evaluations indicate needs for that.
- Clear criteria are needed for strategically important investment and development projects. Projects with links to value chains that develop the use of underutilised fish or generate more value from Baltic herring and sprat catches, could be granted an extended amount of support. Competitive bidding provides an efficient means to enhancing such projects and investments.
- Support for the modernisation of both fishing and fish processing infrastructures continues to be critical although EU regulations limit the subsidisation of fishing fleets. The new types of financing mechanisms, such as guarantee or (subsidised) leasing schemes, are a welcomed addition to the support instruments. Support schemes should also treat different processing operators in the same way, because currently the support is determined depending on whether the processed fish is from the catch of the processor or bought from other fishers.
- Potentials and benefits of an interdisciplinary research programme (Academy of Finland and Business Finland) should be examined. This programme could focus on the role of Baltic herring and sprat fisheries (as well as cyprinids) and the consumption potentials of those fish species at the time when food safety concerns are gaining more attention, fuel prices are on the rise and fur farming is expected to decline and warming of the Baltic Sea in increasing the potential fishery yield of cyprinids.

In addition to new measures, a continued effort is needed to support professional fisheries:

- Fishing rights as regulators of freshwater fisheries: There is a need to lighten the acquisition of fishing rights (Valve et al. 2019). Merging of small water cooperatives should be enhanced, and allocation of fishing rights publicly facilitated in regions in which the fragmentation of water cooperatives complicates the sustainable fishery of vendace, for example.
- The maintenance and strengthening of the general conditions of professional fisheries is important in a situation in which the profession declines, and its representatives are aging (see Kotimaisen kalan edistämisohjelma). EMFAF funding is directed to immediate development challenges of fisheries through 10 Leader groups that e.g., enhance collaboration between fisheries, support local business and product development and help to remove administrative burden in co-managed water bodies. These networking and coordination activities have proven regionally important and such support should be available also in the future.
- Public procurements are important in advancing the demand for underutilised fish. Positive examples can be found for example in Kiuruvesi and Sodankylä, where municipalities have successfully re-organised practices in their institutional kitchens in collaboration with local fishers.



- Profiling fishing as an ecologically feasible business is important and proven successful in rejuvenating regional networks to support new product innovations (e.g., Apetit, Pielisen kala, Leikkala).
- Education policies and curricula are central in providing new workforce and developing the skills and practices of the existing professional fishers.

# 4. Sectors in need of decoupling of economic value generation and their negative impact on waters

#### 4.1 Agriculture: increasing ambition and effectiveness in existing policies

#### Context

In Finland, agriculture is the main source of external nutrient loading to marine and inland waters. Agriculture comprises more than 60% of the overall loading of phosphorus and more than 50% of nitrogen loading to the Baltic Sea (Rankinen et al. 2016). Despite efforts over several decades, this loading has not decreased in accordance with the policy targets (Räike et al. 2020). There are some signs of positive development, the phosphorus reserves of agricultural soils are decreasing (Lemola et al. 2023). This indicates that phosphorus runoff may over time decrease. However, mineral or manure fertilization that exceeds the crop uptake and causes risk for eutrophication is still a considerable problem particularly in localities in which animal manure production and application exceeds the need for fertilising nutrients (Huttunen et al. 2021). Recent study developed scenarios by applying the modelling framework and expert evaluations on nutrient load ceilings (maximum allowable loads) to reach good ecological status in coastal waters. The results indicated that extensive reductions would be needed in nutrient loading from several sectors, especially from agriculture to improve the status of coastal waters. Nevertheless, the scenarios implied that even with most stringent measures to reduce nutrient loading (e.g., limit livestock and crop production to minimum), it would not be possible to reach good environmental status in the coastal waters within the next 30 years, as loading is enforced by climate change increased nutrient leaching from agriculture (Fleming et al. 2023).

The persistence of nutrient loading and difficulties to reduce it has its roots in the Finland's agricultural policy frame. When joining the EU in 1995, Finland abandoned production-based subsidies and customs taxes whilst adopting the Common Agricultural Policy and allowing the free trade of agricultural products. With the CAP framework, area-based subsidies became the main source of income to farmers. As implemented in Finland, the CAP framework led to low input use and extensive farming practices (Lankoski and Ollikainen 2013). As a part of the 1995 policy reform, a voluntary agri-environmental support scheme was introduced. While its aim was to promote environmentally friendly practices, it was, nevertheless, designed as overcompensation to provide another revenue source to farms. The 1995 adopted policy frame has remained rather similar over time despite reforms made to the overall CAP frame over time. The framework has increased arable land area, and it keeps low-productivity fields in production and favours quasi-cultivation.

Out of the 43.600 farms in Finland, two thirds grow crops and one third raises also domestic animals. In monetary terms, about 60% of the agricultural output is generated by animal husbandry (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2021). In Finland, the share of direct income support in farm incomes is highest in the EU (Niemi and Väre 2019). The



number of farms has decreased over time and is expected to be in the range of 32.000–40.800 farms by 2030 (Niemi and Väre 2019, Taloustohtori). In contrast, the cultivated area has remained unchanged due to reasons mentioned above. Farms and regions have become differentiated in terms of input intensities and main production lines.

EU's new CAP policy for 2023–2027 will modify the working conditions of Finnish farms. With the reform, EU aims to strengthen the contribution of agriculture to climate change mitigation and biodiversity conservation. Despite the stated aims, the reform is not especially radical. It keeps Pillars I (direct income support) and II (rural development) as they were but adds to them some new features. Perhaps the most important change is that CAP area payments are now linked to an enhanced conditionality that imposes a stronger set of mandatory environmental compliance conditions for farmers. A new Eco-scheme is introduced to promote adoption of voluntary practices in farms, while also the previous agri-environmental support system continues to be available although its relative share is smaller than before: From the 200 million euros allocated to it almost a half is to support organic farming and animal welfare.

Following the new policy, each member state needs to make a strategic plan for agriculture with a SWOT analysis, and the Commission follows more closely how member states achieve their targets. The Finnish CAP plan was submitted to the EU Commission for scrutiny. The Commission provided very critical comments on the plan, especially concerning the low-level environmental policy ambition, absence of numerical targets and weak implementation. Previously the Commission had noted that Finland should consider strengthening the regulation of diffuse pollutant loads from agriculture. Finland's national CAP plan was accepted by 31 August 2022. The enhanced conditions include among others mandatory buffer strips, and fertilizer regulation. The Rural Development Programme continues to define the nation-wide terms and measures for agri-environmental subsidies in 2023–2027. The new Ecoscheme, funded by Pillar I, promotes mostly biodiversity but includes measures, such as wintertime vegetation that may also promote water protection.

By our estimate, the new national CAP does not resolve the main policy lock-ins that have been present in the national CAP policy frame. Therefore, there are no reasons to expect that it would bring any success in reducing nutrient loads. We identify four distinct sources of policy lock-ins concerning incentives for agricultural production, regulation of livestock production, design of the EU common agricultural policy, and lack of integration between support systems and eutrophication damage.

#### Policy lock-ins concerning incentives for nutrient load reduction

The environmental regulation of agriculture has evolved over time to a complex mix of economic and command-and-control instruments (Kauppila et al. 2017). Finland's environmental policy towards agriculture in 2023–2027 consists mainly of the agrienvironmental support scheme, Eco-scheme, environmental permitting of livestock farms, and CAP area payments with an enhanced conditionality that links payments to a larger set of mandatory compliance conditions including the Finnish Nitrates Decree (1250/2014), which implements the EU Nitrates Directive (91/676/EEC) (Kauppila et al. 2017) and the new Phosphorus Degree defining binding maximum levels of phosphorus application for all farms as a function of the soil P status of the fields. The previous crop-based upper limits for nitrogen application are abandoned and currently only Nitrate directive imposes an upper limit of 170 kg/ha for all fields.





Changes in phosphorus and nitrogen legislation may or may not promote reduction of nutrient loads. For phosphorus, the outcome will depend on how farmers adapt to the tightening phosphorus legislation: clearing more land increases loads, selling manure out reduces loads. Establishment of a digital nutrient resource could enhance the viability of regulatory control (Valve et al. 2022). In the presence of the new phosphorus legislation, placing emphasis on manure processing and prevention of land clearing in peatlands is vital for promoting in phosphorus loads reductions. For nitrogen, high prices of nitrogen fertilizers currently moderate the expected increase in nitrogen fertilization. In fertile soils, the increase in nitrogen fertilization has only minor effect on loading, as plants will efficiently use it for growth. Most risks relate to low productivity soils, where low yields increase excess nitrogen and its loading.

The structure of the Finnish agri-environmental subsidy policy remains unchanged, and it contains a large set of practices for the farmers to choose from. Among others, wetlands, buffer zones, catch crops and runoff management will be promoted. As a new target, subsidies are given to nature-based two-stage channels that provide several ecosystem services, such as flood protection, nutrient retention, and enrichment of biodiversity in the riparian zones. Circular economy solutions, such as nutrient recycling are promoted by specific measures. The new Eco-scheme replaces the previous greening requirements and supports farmers' voluntary choice of wintertime vegetation, green manure fields, landscape and game fields, as well as plants promoting biodiversity. Making buffer strips mandatary for all farmers is a welcome reform. The strips tend to reduce especially erosion, particulate phosphorus and nitrogen losses.

At the moment, it is difficult to assess the environmental performance of the new policy design. The Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry assessed that the national CAP program will reduce 17 % of nitrogen loads and 8 % of phosphorus loads but one should approach this optimistic assessment with caution as the methods used in the assessment are not presented. Moreover, despite some new features, the main design of the previous policy does not change much, implying that the nutrient load reduction estimates seem unfounded. The policy challenges in reducing nutrient loading and promoting efficient agricultural production are as follows:

- First, the voluntary support scheme consisting of agri-environmental support and Eco-schemes with practice selection continues to be inefficient, expensive, and provides low incentives towards innovation. Furthermore, it does not allow for regional targeting of agri-environmental policies to the most polluted water areas.
- Second, there is inefficiency in governing nutrient loading and the sharing of costs and benefits within the current program. Finland's program has typically overcompensated conservations costs, thus providing an implicit income support to farmers. This shows up in high participation rates in the program relative to other EU member states (Ollikainen et al. 2019). The program has provided water quality benefits, but research suggests the net benefits are close to zero (Laukkanen and Nauges 2014) or even negative due to increased nitrogen loading (Lankoski and Ollikainen 2013). Further, during period 2008–2020, water protection measures in agricultural areas have been insufficient (Vilmi et al. 2021).
- Third, Finland's program represents "pay the polluter principle" approach instead of relying on "polluter pays principle". Equally importantly, it pays for management practices instead of paying for performance in reducing nutrient loading. The weaknesses of this approach are well-known. It is more costly, more complicated, and backward-looking than paying for performance (Shortle et al. 2021). In the Finnish case, the aim has been to enrol as many farmers as possible to the program, but this is possible only with low requirements (and costs) and high compensations.



Money could be spent in a better way. For instance, extending the enhanced conditionality to cover animal welfare would increase the effectiveness of the policy,

- reduce participation costs, and allow redirecting the saved funds to innovative pioneering practices.
- Fourth, to improve water protection policy, agriculture should be treated applying the same policy principles as other sectors where the polluter pays principle is applied. Polluter pays principle would shift the focus of actions on performance. Polluter pays principle could be rooted to the expected loading and quantified impacts of practices reducing it (Lötjönen and Ollikainen 2019). This approach would promote new efficient technologies and improve knowledge base on factors affecting loading (Shortle et al. 2021).

# Policy lock-ins concerning the EU Common Agricultural Policy and national subsidies

The adopted Common Agricultural Policy frame in Finland has created production structures that prevent reducing, or even increase, nutrient loading. The most important structural challenge is that there is a higher level of animal support payments to dairy farms in the C-support areas relative to A and B areas, established when Finland joined the EU. The support system provides incentives to shift dairy farming from Uusimaa, and South-West regions to the Bothnia region. The subsequent intensified clearing of peatlands for fields increases especially nitrogen loading, GHG emissions and concurrently also the costs of the food processing industry. Agricultural production has thus become regionally specialized. Moreover, the differentiation of livestock and crop production to different regions has led to nutrient imbalance so that some sub-regions with intensive animal husbandry encounter problems from high manure phosphorus surpluses, while the regions dominated by crop production suffer from a deficiency of organic fertilizers (Lemola et al. 2023).

Second, the current area payments tend to increase arable land and nutrient loading. Decoupled area payments provide an important source of revenue in boreal agriculture without distorting the choice of crops for production. Area payments have, nevertheless two distorting implications. First, they maintain low productive fields in production reducing profitability of agriculture. Second, they invite more land to cultivation, as they provide a secure and considerable source of revenue (Lichtenberg 2002; Lankoski and Ollikainen 2013). The arable land area was in 1995 less than 2 million ha and has risen to more than 2,3 million ha since then. The increase in the field area inevitably leads to higher nutrient loading, which may even outperform the load reductions per hectare obtained from agri-environmental policies. Finland's agricultural policy promotes extensive production to smaller but higher productive areas would provide the same output but with much lower nutrient loading and higher revenue for agriculture. A recent study shows that 10 % of farms receiving CAP support payments has not sold any agricultural products during the previous CAP program (Niskanen et al. 2022).

In addition, the water management practises of agricultural fields require revision as water scarcity may become more frequent also in Finland with climate change affecting the intensity and periodicity of droughts in the northern latitudes (Ahopelto et al. 2019). This calls for resource-efficient and combined management of nutrient and water balances in the fields, and preparing also for water scarcity, like storing water in wetlands and ensuring good soil structure (Winland-project 2018). Conventional



drainage systems can be replaced by nature-based two-stage channels that provide several ecosystem services, such as flood protection, nutrient retention, and enrichment of biodiversity in the riparian zone. Based on a recent study (Västilä et al. 2021), the additional value of phosphorus retention and conservation of protected species was 2.4 times higher than the total costs of constructing the 2-stage channel.

#### Solutions to lock-ins in the Finnish CAP policy frames

Decoupling emissions from production is a widely used target in many policies, especially in climate policy. For industrial point sources with technologically controlled constant returns to scale production, new technologies allow for increasing production with lower emissions or even total elimination of emissions. For agriculture, decoupling of nutrient loads from production is a more complicated task. Nutrient loading depends on uncontrolled stochastic weather conditions, soils differ with respect to productivity and propensity to loading, and arable land exhibits decreasing returns to scale. In an idealized form, total agricultural nutrient loading can be estimated as a product of loading per hectare in each soil type, times the amount of land in cultivation in each soil type. This is a simplification, however. Loading between fields in each soil type differs depending on their productivity, fertilization history, and the adopted management practices. Furthermore, some practices that reduce nitrogen and total phosphorus loading may increase load of dissolvent phosphorus (Evenson et al. 2022; Iho et al. 2023).

Agricultural policy processes also operate on different time spans and in terms of different jurisdictional scopes. Therefore, decoupling of agricultural production and harmful environmental impacts requires actions at different time spans.

A short run solution for agriculture is a cost-efficient reduction of nutrient loading taking place via two channels: reduction of loads per hectare (1) and phasing out the least fertile arable lands from cultivation (2). Achievement of the former requires policies ensuring that the competitive edge in farming cannot be gained at the price of harmful environmental externalities, and that the farmers use more sustainable production inputs such as organic fertilisers in production, and consumer demand is created for environmentally friendly products. Meanwhile, the latter provokes a call for a far more efficient and incentives-creating policy than Finland has employed so far. A cost-efficient solution reducing loading per hectare may not be enough to reduce the loading sufficiently to the level that would not cause harmful effects in aquatic environments, because of the large land areas remaining in cultivation.

A deeper longer-term reform fostering efficient decoupling would step out from the subsidy system that maintains large areas in cultivation without generating incentives for effective production of food. The required reform would redesign agri-environmental support system to favour innovative and forward-looking farming, promoting new food production solutions, such as vertical farming and cell-cultured proteins, and facilitate a change towards sustainable and healthy plant and blue product-based diets to provide supply for the growing demand for more sustainable agricultural, food and feed, products.

The critical dimensions of transformation in the short run are the following:

• Determined actions to reduce phosphorus loads from legacy phosphorus, the biggest challenge for agriculture in the South-western parts of Finland, in particular. The use of soil amendments, such as gypsum and structure lime from recycled material to reduce phosphorus loads considerably in the short run. More efficient monitoring of phosphorus application should be planned and set in motion.



- Promoting nutrient recycling in agriculture to provide multiple benefits and a structural step towards a more balanced use of nutrients in manure, improvement in the domestic supply of organic fertilizers, and reduction of greenhouse gas emissions associated with manufacturing of mineral fertilizers. Nutrient separation from manure provides a crucial step in achieving a balanced phosphorus use on the fields, in addition to providing organic material improving soil quality.
- Favouring sustainable management practices, such as crop rotation, use of legumes and perennials, to improve soil productivity, nitrogen fixation, and reduction of soil erosion.
- Renewal and strengthening of water management in farmlands. Climate change adaptation requires increased efforts to both flood and drought control. However, water management should no longer be conceived merely as a flood protection measure, but increasingly as means to revitalise ecosystems, provide nutrient retention, prevent CO2 emissions, and enrich biodiversity in farmlands. Conventional drainage systems may potentially disturb material cycles and water flow and to impoverish riverine habitats. Those can be replaced by two-stage-channels and made eligible for the EU agri-environmental subsidy scheme (Västilä et al. 2021). Strengthening incentives in the agri-environmental support program to adopt nutrient load reducing practices by strengthening river-basing management with differentiated and targeted instruments.
- Finally, there should be targeted research and development and investment (RDI) policies to support new modes of protein production and productification. There are many directions to increase productivity of agriculture without increasing its environmental footprint. Precision farming, vertical farming, and new possibilities of applying digitalization provide examples. Another potentially very important future direction relates to cell-culturing food. This notion refers to cultivation of plant, animal, or microbial -based proteins in bioreactors with the help of renewable electricity, thereby decoupling food production from agricultural land and weather conditions. Cell culturing represents a radical transformation of agriculture to an industrial food processing technology that liberates much land and nature from food production. Cell-food may create new business opportunities and at the same time help reduce environmental emissions from traditional agricultural production to the atmosphere and waterways. Finland hosts pioneering companies on this field and the society should create favourable innovation environment for the development.

In the mid-term, CAP pillar II subsidies in Finland should be re-designed:

- In Finland, a reform is needed to promote efficient agriculture with much lower environmental footprint per hectare. This reform should change the agrienvironmental support requirements and incentives so that the requirements for incentives match performance in water protection, better coping with changes in consumer preferences towards healthier diets and increasing needs to strengthen efforts towards climate and biodiversity benefits. Furthermore, a greater share of funds reserved for environmental goals should serve promoting new and innovative environmental investments in agriculture.
- The reform should be tailored to make full use of synergies between climate, water and biodiversity policy, for instance, by strengthening the role of buffer zones and nature-based drainage systems as green infrastructure with trees, bushes and other "agro-forestry" solutions as a buffer for nutrients and a shade for the aquatic environments to provide cooling. It is also important that EU policies promote integration of biodiversity and water protection goals. Reducing arable land area by gradually out-phasing peatlands and marginal and low productivity lands provides the main step in Finland for promoting the synergies. EU's becoming regulation may require that even 50% of cultivated peatlands will be phased out of cultivation, and better targeting of support would take marginal lands from production.



- Steering of water management in farmlands must consider the challenges posed by different soil types. On clay soils, the water holding capacity of soils in crucial. While good infrastructure (drainage) is necessary to get water out from soil in autumn and spring, water holding capacity (depending on soil structure) is important during the growing season. To prevent CO2 emissions from peatlands requires in turn an elevated water table, wetting and cultivation of crop suited to wetted fields. An increasing challenge on both soil types relates to flooding that increases with climate change. Adaptation requires increased efforts to control flood and to adapt on more frequent droughts, while drainage is to be based on multifunctional two-stage channels.
- Targeted subsidies for the cultivation of legumes and manure transportation. Finding ways of balancing the trade-off between different phosphorus fractions and nitrogen when promoting no till, wintertime vegetation and other erosion reducing measures.

In the long term, also CAP pillar I subsidies should be rethought. Income policy of the CAP pillar one should be re-evaluated and redesigned to phasing out low quality lands from agriculture and providing new possibilities for more efficient production in the remaining lands. Quasi-cultivation should be eliminated as a farming activity by requiring farmers to harvest and sell of agricultural products if they accept area payments and other subsidies (provided no failure of crops). This requirement would help excluding poor arable land from the support system, and the reallocation of support payments should be report asserts, current support to agriculture provides everywhere very low return and suggests that a part of current support should annually be allocated to research and development, finding more efficient practices, and spread information on new solutions widely to farmers. A revision of support payments of CAP pillar one would also facilitate required steps to adapting to climate change and extreme weather conditions agriculture faces.

#### How to start reforming of agricultural policy?

Above analysis suggests a profound reform for agriculture. Introducing polluter pays principle as Pigouvian policy would provide the environmentally sound and motivated step towards the reform in agriculture in a way that would not cause rapid reduction is farm income. Most natural and urgent would be to use both climate policy and water policy instruments. Our suggestion to promoting the reform are as follows:

First, triple environmental benefits would be created by climate policy motivated taxsubsidy scheme levied on GHG emissions from peatlands. Taxing emissions but subsidizing wetting and restoration of these lands would reduce both GHG emissions and reduce nitrogen loads and lead some fields to be excluded over time from production promoting biodiversity conservation. Furthermore, it would create incentives to really wet the fields and not just abandoning them in which case decay of peat would continue.

Second, a river basin pilot in the catchment of the Archipelago Sea on the reduction of nutrient loading should be organized using tendering system and nutrient load indexes for phosphorus and nitrogen. The pilot would gather information on farmers' ability to assess additional reduction in nutrients, its costs, and the most typical nutrient reduction practices available for farmers. An analysis of the information would then provide grounds for the next CAP reform.



These suggestions would mean that market-based incentives to promote environmental goods in agriculture provide for most farms improving incentives and increasing revenue. They would at the same time correct some of the negative sideeffects of area payments.

# 4.2 Aquaculture: harmonising environmental and economic aspirations in fish farming

#### Context

The contribution of aquaculture to the Finnish economy overall is quite small. The living resources sector (fishing, aquaculture, food processing, wholesale, and retail sale), employs roughly 2596 people, produces a yearly turnover of slightly under 1 billion euros, and creates value added for approximately 155 million euros (Heikkinen 2019). There is no data regarding the exports of the aquaculture industry alone (fisheries contribute around 18 million euros). In 2018, roughly 14.4 million kg of fish was cultivated for human consumption in Finland (a 0.7 million kg decrease from year 2020) (Natural Resources Institute Finland 2022). Even though the demand for aquaculture products is growing, production has decreased, or is at least not growing. Fish farming accounts for, depending on the marine area in question, between 0 to 4 % of the total phosphorus load on water bodies and 0 to 2% of the total nitrogen load on water bodies, although in certain water bodies the shares can be considerably higher<sup>2</sup> (Marine Strategy of Finland 2021; Fleming et al. 2023).

The aquaculture sector in Finland consists mostly of farming rainbow trout and the production of roe. Other species are minor compared to rainbow trout, but include trout, charr, sturgeon, and crayfish. Most operations use open pens that are in coastal waters close to the shore, each producing between 30 to 1.000 tons of fish annually (Soininen and Belinskij 2023). Some companies have established pens farther into the sea or operate recirculation plants on land to mitigate nutrient emissions to waters and to meet the tightening environmental requirements for the sector (Soininen et al. 2019). Conventional open pen rearing units release by design nutrient and other discharges to the water body in which they are located (Read and Fernandes 2003). These discharges can better be controlled in closed loop or recirculation aquaculture operations, but these technologies are yet to take off on a large scale mostly due to profitability (Soininen et al. 2019).

The policy setting of the aquaculture sector is constructed so that the Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD, 2008/56/EC) and the Baltic Sea Action Plan (BSAP) devised under the Helsinki Convention<sup>3</sup> steer the overall, cumulative nutrient levels in the Baltic Sea. Particularly the MSFD is binding on Finland as an EU member state but at present the overall nutrient targets are not operationalised to steer the development of individual fish farming projects. At the project level, the operations require permits according to the Environmental Protection Act (527/2014) and Water Act (587/2011) of Finland. Both Acts seek to mitigate the harm caused by aquaculture operations to adjacent property owners and the environmental requirements of the Water Framework Directive (WFD, 2000/60/EC). In practice, the permits control the aquaculture operation's emissions and their ecological impact to the adjacent water body and permit is denied in cases where the operation would cause considerable harm to other the achievement of the good status objective. It is rarely the case, however, that a single

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Convention on the Protection of the Marine Environment of the Baltic Sea, in force 17 January 2000



<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> These mentioned figures do not include the Åland island marine waters.

installation (even a large-scale open pen operation) would single-handedly deteriorate the status or considerably hinder the achievement of the good status objective. For this reason, aquaculture permits are typically allowed but with limitations on production levels (Soininen and Belinskij 2023).

#### **Policy lock-ins**

The policy lock-ins in the aquaculture sector can be categorized at four levels. First, at the level of policy goals, the lock-in is that the current EU and national policy goals for the sector are incoherent. On the one hand, the EU Commission set a goal already in 2012 for increasing aquaculture production significantly (Blue Growth Agenda, EU Commission 2012). In the 2021 Finnish Domestic Fish Promotion Program (Government decision in principle 8 June 2021) established that the desired increase of aquaculture production in Finland is 260 % from 14 million kg/a (2017) to 50 million kg/a in 2037. On the other hand, the water and marine environmental policies are aiming at significant improvements in the status of coastal and marine waters, and the subsequent decreases in cumulative nutrient loads from different sectors, including aquaculture. The EU Water Framework Directive sets a binding legal obligation not to deteriorate the ecological quality of coastal waters, and to reach Good Ecological status by 2027 the latest. Similarly, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive aims at Good Environmental Status of marine waters. Moreover, and implementing the goal set in the MSFD, the Baltic Sea Action Plan aims at Good Ecological Status of the Baltic marine environment by 2021. In the aggregate, these ecological goals present significant legal challenges for maintaining existing and especially increasing future nutrient loads into the Baltic Sea. Such incoherence of policy goals does not offer clear pathways for the future development of the sector (Soininen et al. 2019). This challenges especially open-pen fish farms considering that the national growth target for the aquaculture industry is 260 % from the current level of production.

Second, the aquaculture sector lacks a clear strategy for renewal considering the environmental and regulatory pressures. Considering the EU and HELCOM environmental policies, further growth in the aquaculture sector should take place without major increases in nutrient outputs. This places considerable pressure on decoupling the fish production and nutrient emissions to waters. At present, most of the policy discussion in the sector revolves around how to maintain existing operations and technologies in use rather than aiming at decoupling the nutrient emissions from production, however (Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry and Ministry of the Environment 2014; Finnish Government 2022). On balance, the growth planned for in the EU and Finnish blue growth policies is difficult to achieve by resorting to the openpen technology without legally infringing the WFD and MSFD goals and obligations at the level of individual water bodies (small-scale), and especially at the level of entire marine regions and the Baltic Sea as a whole.

Third, at the level of implementation policies, the policy lock-in is the lack of effective measures to manage the cumulative nutrient loads to the Baltic Sea (Soininen et al. 2019; Puharinen 2021). The Water Framework Directive and the Marine Strategy Framework Directive establish monitoring and planning frameworks to help achieve the environmental status goals but offer little help for curbing the cumulative nutrient loads to waters. These loads originate from several sectors, out of which diffuse loads stemming agriculture, and runoff nutrients from ditched forest lands lead the pack. The aquaculture industry and other point-sources of nutrient emissions, such as municipal wastewater treatment operations may have significant emissions and impact on the status of waters locally but play a smaller role in the overall nutrient levels in coastal and marine waters of the Baltic Sea. If there is no willingness to take effective measures to curb diffuse nutrient emissions stemming from agriculture and forestry, it will be



difficult to reach the EU ecological and environmental status goals. This in turn reflects negatively on the aquaculture sector as the regulatory requirements of reaching the ecological and environmental goals are not based on sector-by-sector nutrient quotas but on the ecological quality of the receiving water body or marine area (Soininen et al. 2023). In such a setting, if agriculture and forestry produce nutrients runoff to an extent that maintains coastal water bodies and marine areas below good ecological status, the regulatory pressure for discontinuing existing permits and rejecting new permits will increase, despite aquaculture industry's efforts to reduce their nutrient output per operation, or per a unit of fish produced (Soininen and Belinskij 2023).

Fourth, at the level of individual projects and their environmental permitting, the aquaculture sector may be facing tightening legal requirements for obtaining environmental permits and increasing governance uncertainty. The current regulatory setting leads to legal uncertainties as to whether and on which terms it is possible obtain a permit due to the less-than-good status of coastal and marine waters; the limited duration of permits (e.g., for 5 to 8 years), which is detrimental to predictably planning ahead the development of the industry and the individual operations; and finally, to more stringent requirements on the reliability of environmental impact assessments, which lead to the use of costly prediction models that are not yet fully equipped to establish the connection between nutrient emissions from single aquaculture operations and their impact on ecological/environmental status (Valve et al 2019a; Soininen and Belinskij 2023).

Ultimately, the incoherence of policy goals concerning aquaculture, the lack of effective measures to management the cumulative nutrient loads to waters, the tightening legal and permitting requirements, and the lack of clear strategy for the renewal of the aquaculture operators lead to a deadlock within the entire aquaculture sector (Valve et al 2019a).

#### Solutions to lock-ins

The key factors for transformation are that competitive edge should not be gained by producing negative environmental externalities. At present, however, the Finnish aquaculture producers are struggling to compete in the food market as they are competing against producers from other countries with less governmental oversight or that are operating in marine areas where nutrient outputs do not contribute to eutrophication to a similar degree as in the Baltic Sea (e.g., in Norway, on the coast of the Atlantic). Consequently, efforts to include more of the negative externalities into the price of production will likely lead to Finnish companies exiting the market, unless major innovation to production and nutrient abatement technologies are made.

There are two policy pathways to manage the lock-ins. First pathway is to recognise the key production technologies that have capacity for decoupling production and nutrient emissions. At present, the most promising innovation for such change is recirculation aquaculture. Recirculation aquaculture is essentially a technology for farming fish or other aquatic organisms by reusing water in production. The technology is based on the use of mechanical and biological filters. Recirculation can be carried out at different intensities depending on how much water is recirculated or re-used (Bregnballe 2015). In Finland, only a handful of recirculating aquaculture facilities are in operation. Those have not been profitable so far, but technological development is fast promising increasing profitability (Laine et al. 2023). In Finnish installations the wastewater is either directed to another industrial or municipal wastewater treatment plant or treated locally (Soininen et al. 2019). The co-operation of such facilities should be supported for instance by integrating aquaculture permits with the permit renewal of existing



industrial and municipal wastewater treatment operations that would have capacity for the treatment of emissions in these and RAS activities. Another technological option is to couple open aquaculture operations with algae or other nutrient up taking species, but currently a key limitation here is that matching the scale of nutrient emissions and absorption has proven difficult.

Second and more complicated policy pathway is to establish national and legally binding nutrient loading levels for all water bodies and marine regions, and to fully implement the current BSAP nutrient limits and operationalise the MSFD goals. This would translate into a total cap on nitrogen and phosphorus for the water bodies and marine regions of Finland and shares under the cap of nutrient emission would be allocated or sold out via tendering across different sectors, such as agriculture, aquaculture, and forestry. In such a system, also open pen fish farming operations could be ecologically viable, but this would mean that nutrient emissions from the current levels in other sectors would need to be cut. Such a system would require establishing the emissions emanating from the different sectors and comprehensive monitoring to match.

It has also been proposed that strengthening the EU MSFD's implementation in Finland could resolve some of the problems related to translating the overall marine ecosystem status objectives into concrete norms on individual sectors and activities (Puharinen et al. 2021). This necessitates, first, that the marine management's operational environmental targets are developed; currently, the targets miss a lot of their potential as they are formulated on a very general level, rather than being specifically targeted and refined into operational targets for economic sectors or specific areas, which would be needed to translate the overall marine environmental ambitions into concrete legal obligations (Puharinen 2023). Second, the Finnish legislation currently does not provide any binding legal implications for the marine management objectives, the Good Ecological Status objectives, or the environmental targets. Thus, for the marine management regimes to steer the economic sectors and their activities in line with reaching GES, the GES objective and the environmental targets should be included as binding preconditions in the permitting conditions in the Environmental Protection Act as well as the Water Act (Puharinen et al. 2021).

#### 4.3 Forestry: introducing policies for governing water emissions

#### Context

Forestry is an important source of industrial raw materials in Finland. At the same time, forestry releases nutrients to waterways and is a source of considerable sediment loading. The sources of loading differ between mineral lands and peatlands. For both forest land types, clear-cutting opens the forest soil to erosion and increases nutrient and sediment loading. Ditched peatlands produce higher loads than mineral lands (Finér et al. 2021). Large areas of wetlands were ditched between 1960s and 1980s for forestry (Finér et al. 2021). To maintain forest growth potential, regular ditch cleaning is needed in these lands during the rotation and after clear-cutting. The most common water protection measures in forestry are buffer zones, sedimentation ponds and overland flow fields. Forestry is responsible for 7300 tonnes of nitrogen and 444 tonnes of phosphorus loading, which counts for 12 % of anthropogenic nitrogen loading and 14 % of phosphorus loading (Finér et al. 2021).



#### **Policy lock-ins**

The forestry sector is currently faced with the following lock-ins. First, the knowledge base of the impact of forestry on waters is changing (Nieminen et al. 2017; 2018b; 2021). While it was earlier believed that drainage results only in short-term changes in nutrient exports, recent studies indicate permanently deteriorated water quality due to drainage of peatland soils. Furthermore, by emphasizing the need to prevent carbon release from peat, climate policy provides new impetus for the management of peatland forests. The browning of surface waters is a phenomenon that can be observed everywhere in Finland and elsewhere in the northern hemisphere (Skerlep 2021; Albrecht et al. 2023) and is now entering the policy agenda. Recent studies indicate that forest management may have a much greater role in surface water browning than was thought earlier (Skerlep 2021; Vuorio 2020).

Second, efforts to prevent sediment and nutrient loading require changes in forest management. Traditional view has been that nutrient loading per hectare is very small from forestry, and that old ditches play only minor role in nutrient and sediment loading. This understanding has changed dramatically: recent studies show that old ditches may be source of nutrients and sediments decades (Finér et a. 2021) and nutrient concentrations from drained peatland forests may even increase over time since drainage (Nieminen et al. 2017; 2018b). This research challenges the old forest management regime relying on clear-cutting and regular ditch cleanings (Ahtikoski et al. 2012; Nieminen et al. 2018c) and emphasizes the need for catchment-based approach (Häggblom et al. 2020). Furthermore, recent studies also show that ditch cleaning, made annually on average 60.000–70.000 hectares during 2000s, is in many cases not the optimal choice for the society because of the negative effects caused by nutrient and sediment load damage in headwater streams (Miettinen et al. 2020). The amount of sediments released to waterways from ditching are large and they are especially harmful in sensitive small rivulets, headwaters of rivers and lakes, which are important spawning areas for many aquatic species. Sediment loading can be reduced using sedimentation ponds and overland flow fields, but the need for restoration of head waters is rather high (Nieminen et al. 2018a; Miettinen 2020). One closely related problem is that the current legislation lags behind requiring that ditches should be kept open and water flowing (Halonen and Similä 2020). Section 8 in Chapter 5 of Water Act of Finland sets an obligation to the beneficiaries of the ditching to maintain the ditch. Reducing or giving up the ditch maintenance to promote environmental protection is only possible when all stakeholders agree in accordance with Section 7(2) in Chapter 5 of the Water Act.

Third, efforts to restore once ditched peatlands have so far failed. Finland has ditched about 5.7 million hectares peatlands and wetlands for forestry, mostly between the 1960s and 1980s, and currently 25 % of forest growth of all the Finnish forests comes from peatland forests. Out of this area about 0.8–1 million hectares have turned out to be unprofitable for forestry and now remain idle (Häggblom et al. 2020). How much of this nearly one million hectares of peatland forests where initial ditching failed contribute to nutrient and sediment loading is still open. Restoration of peatlands would benefit biodiversity, water quality, and climate change mitigation over time. There is a need to improve our knowledge on sediment and nutrient loading as well as to develop emission coefficients for alternative measures in forest management (Finér et al. 2020).

Fourth, surface water browning challenges current management practices. Streams, rivers, and lakes have been subject to changes in water colour over the last decades. This increase is a result of rising dissolved organic matter and iron concentrations in the water. Browning affects the quality of freshwater ecosystems and drinking water production (Albrecht et al. 2023). Alternative hypotheses have been proposed to explain



what causes browning. The first hypothesis was climate change and increased decay of organic material, another is recovery from atmospheric S deposition (acid rain). A recent hypothesis is that land cover changes, specifically increase in coniferous forest cover (spruce), which promote accumulation of organic soils, is an important factor behind browning (Skerlep 2021). However, it is evident that current forest management practises with intense harvesting, soil preparation, ditch maintenance and inefficient water protection measures promote organic carbon leaching and discharge. Moving to more natural forest management practices and reducing ditch connectivity would counteract freshwater browning in the future (Härkönen et al. 2023).

The current water protection measures (buffer zones, sedimentation pools, overland flow fields) do not work against browning. Changes in forest management are needed, including the shift to continuous cover forestry, and favouring hardwoods and perhaps also inventing new measures to directly improve water quality. Only few experiments have been carried out this far. For instance, adding large wood to forest ditches and sedimentation ponds has been very recently studied as a means of reducing sediments and dissolved organic carbon exports (PuuMaVesi 2021).

#### **Solutions to lock-ins**

The primary cause of nutrient emissions is the ditching of peatlands to improve forest growth. Ditches have proven to be a source of considerable nutrient emissions and sediments over long timespans. Therefore, strengthening regulation of ditching and promoting implementation of related water protection measures is needed, but also actions toward the restoration of previously drained forest lands not currently under forest management are needed (Ministry of the Environment 2020). Continuous cover forestry and strip harvesting would provide alternatives to current management of peatland forests by regular ditch cleanings and large-scale clear-cutting. Strip harvesting is based on clear-cutting of small strips in the forest land area. Both management regimes can be optimized to maintain water table at levels that support economically feasible tree growth, and still prevent nutrient loading and release of carbon from peat (Miettinen et al. 2022). More natural and diverse peatland forest management with mixed forest cover and improved catchment retention by peatland restoration could also diminish water quality impacts (Härkönen et al. 2023). Furthermore, the increasing use of GIS data and integrated modelling helps to plan water protection more efficiently and to identify high risk areas (Tattari and Leinonen 2017). Spatial differentiation of measures and policy would help to target the most important sites and regions.

The first policy solution would be to levy a ban on ditching pristine wetlands. This would effectively rule out even the slightest attempts to increase ditched forest land areas. This could be made by introducing new legislation to this effect.

Secondly, anticipating the becoming EU nature restoration regulation, Finland should make a national plan for restoring those forest peatlands where ditching has not increased sufficient forest growth. Setting priorities and schedule on the restoration of sites, such as unfertile wetlands, would help the implementation of the new regulation and at least slightly reduce nutrient loading from the ditched sites. Overflow fields would provide an efficient and permanent structure for water protection in these lands (Miettinen et al. 2020).



Third, on managed peatlands under active management, the first task would be to abandon subsidies for ditch network maintenance. Instead, forest owners should be given more support for planning how to manage previously drained peatland forests in a way that decreases harmful environmental impacts. Ditch network maintenance should be controlled by a permit (Lång et al. 2022). The permitting process should assess the eligibility and need for ditch network maintenance against alternative forest management practices for ditch network maintenance including not only water both also climate and biodiversity impacts. These alternatives include continuous cover forestry, where the amount harvested trees is selected so the remaining trees maintain the groundwater table at a level, which minimizes harmful environmental impacts, or strip harvesting, where the size of strips and the age of trees is chosen so that the water table remains at the target level. If a permit is given, it should set maximum limits for the width and depths for ditches, and instructions for using carefully planned water protection measures. Finally, fertilization to increase forest growth could promote evaporation and help to replace ditch network maintenance needs (Miettinen et al. 2020).

Fourth, on managed mineral lands, final harvesting and the following soil preparation is the main source of nutrients. In even-aged forest-management leaving buffer strips between harvested area and adjacent waters decreases nutrient loads to watercourses. For both water quality and especially biodiversity reasons, sufficiently wide buffers should be left along creeks and streams (Tolkkinen et al. 2020). Avoiding clear-cutting, for instance by shifting from even-aged management to continuous cover forestry also decreases negative impacts on water quality and could be considered especially in forest sites where continuous cover forestry is a financially profitable option compared to even-aged management.

## 4.4 Hydropower: Removing small-scale operations and introducing environmental flows to mid-sized and large operations

#### Context

Most of the Finnish rivers have been dammed for hydropower generation during the 20th century and the remaining rivers are protected by law (Soininen et al. 2018; Iho et al. 2022). Consequently, there are slim opportunities for developing hydropower further despite the economic (IEA 2020a) and climate change mitigation (IEA 2020a) benefits of such generation (Iho et al. 2022). Rather, the hydropower sector has been frequently called to mitigate its negative impact on riverine ecosystems, migratory fish, recreation, and tourism. At present, the EU biodiversity strategy for 2030 and the EU Water Framework Directive (arts. 4 and 11) put significant pressure on preventing the further deterioration and restoration of freshwater biodiversity (COM (2020) 380 final). As a concrete target, the biodiversity strategy calls for restoration of roughly 25.000 kilometres of rivers as free flowing (COM (2020) 380 final). To make the objectives of the EU biodiversity strategy and the Water Framework Directive a reality, a shift in the hydropower sector, and existing hydropower permits, is required.

In Finland, hydropower accounts, depending on the year, 10–20 % of the total electricity consumption (Energy Finland 2018). The Finnish hydropower operations are part of the Nordic electricity markets (Nordpool) in which electricity flows between Sweden, Norway, Denmark, Finland, and central European countries, but the flow from country to country is limited by the capacity of transboundary transmission cables. The price of electricity markets is that production and consumption at the market. A key factor of the electricity markets is that production and consumption need to be balanced daily from seconds to minutes and hours to days to prevent the electricity grid from collapsing (Iho et al. 2022). Hydropower contributes to this balancing. Also, hydropower is typically one of the most affordable means of generating electricity as most of the



investment costs have been sunk. Consequently, most hydropower operators are reluctant to forfeit their operations.

Another characteristic of the electricity market is that much of the demand is typically inelastic as many societal operations from industrial production to households need a certain amount of electricity regardless of the price of electricity. Subsequently, changes in electricity markets are mostly driven by changes in electricity generation technologies and by public policies internalizing climate externalities. The key policy question concerning the future of hydropower in Finland is how the incumbent regime producing negative environmental externalities especially in built rivers could be reduced to balance the societal benefits (affordable electricity, stable electricity grid, climate change mitigation) and harms (esp. riverine ecosystems) of hydropower. (Iho et al. 2022)

#### **Policy lock-ins**

The key policy lock-ins are connected to reconciling hydropower generation and river biodiversity. This is due to three sets of policy lock-ins. First, the goals of EU and Finnish hydropower policy are incoherent. On the one hand, hydropower is a key sector in providing energy security by allowing electricity grid operators to balance intermittent production and consumption of electricity thus stabilizing electricity prices (Iho et al. 2022). Moreover, hydropower is seen as renewable energy that has a role in climate change mitigation. On the other hand, hydropower is one of the key culprits behind the less-than-good ecological status of rivers in Finland as required by the EU Water Framework Directive art. 4 (Soininen et al. 2018). The status of biological elements, such as migratory fish stocks, is a key criterion in evaluating the good status (WFD Annex V). At present, there is no clear understanding of what kind of specific measures WFD arts. 4 and 11 require from existing hydropower operations. Legal proceedings to clarify the situation are ongoing (e.g., ELY-Center 2017), and the EU Commission has also inquired the from the Finnish government, how the country will seek to realize the WFD goals. There is no clear strategy or policy pathways to tackle this question at the moment.

The second lock-in is that the legal status of hydropower operators is well protected against changes in environmental or social circumstances. This protection comprises private ownership of the river flows and a legal right to compensation if the economic value of the operation considerably decreases due to anthropogenic reasons (Soininen et al. 2018; Iho et al. 2022). This incurs potentially major economic losses to public authorities seeking to shift existing permits as the hydropower losses will need to be compensated to the hydropower operators. Moreover, the once granted administrative water permits enjoy strict protection meaning that the permits cannot be entirely revoked against the hydropower operators will, and there are strict legal criteria for adding new and changing existing permit requirements (Soininen et al. 2018; Iho et al. 2022). Permit conditions concerning fisheries damage can be changed if there are some conditions in the original permit, but these need to be done operations by operation which puts a heavy administrative burden on public authorities. Overall, the private ownership of river flows, the legal right to compensation for the loss of hydropower, and the strong legal protection of existing permits all translate into challenges for re-evaluating hydropower policy in one fell swoop. Consequently, the policy developments are likely to be incremental and piece-meal.

The third lock-in is connected to the lack of enforcement of existing legal and permit obligations set for hydropower operators. Dozens of smaller hydropower operations in Finland still either lack an administrative water permit altogether or are not complying with their legal obligations to build fishways or otherwise mitigate and minimize the harm caused by the damming of the river to migratory fish stocks (Soininen et al. 2018;



Iho et al. 2022). The Finnish enforcement authorities have been mostly passive and reluctant to enforce legal requirements, despite some efforts to reconcile the situation (e.g., ELY-Center 2017). This is due to much of the obligations for producing assessments about the status of the environment and the need for fisheries measures resting on the shoulders of public authorities instead of industrial actors as per the polluter pays principle.

#### **Solutions to lock-ins**

In evaluating the future directions of the hydropower sector in Finland, and policy changes to achieve this, there is a need to differentiate between different size hydropower operations (small, medium, and large). Large operations are generating more than 10MW each and contribute significantly to both electricity generation and balancing the electricity grid. These operations cannot be forfeit without considerable harmful implications to the functioning of the electricity markets and energy security. Measures to mitigate the biodiversity harm of the operations is still feasible, however, by constructing fishways and natural by-passes, restoring spawning grounds for migratory fish and so on (Iho et al. 2022). The smallest category (below 2MW) operations contribute, on balance, very little to the Finnish hydropower generation (less than 1 %) and do not take part in balancing the electricity grid. Such operations could be seized, and rivers restored to help achieve the objectives of the EU biodiversity strategy and the Water Framework Directive (Iho et al. 2022). In medium-sized operations (between 2MW and 10MW), the balance between maintaining the operations with biodiversity mitigation measures and seizing operations to restore the rivers is more difficult and needs to be based on case-by-case (Iho et al. 2022).

Bearing in mind the need to separate hydropower policy based on the size of the operation, the Finnish Water Act should be changed to require a periodical review of existing hydropower permits in which the governmental permit authority would review whether the permit conditions are in line with the EU Water Framework Directive art. 4 and other environmental requirements. The permit holder should apply for such renewal in the light of the polluter pays principle and allocate most of the cost of relicensing to actors reaping the benefits of electricity generation. Such system is already in operation in Sweden after legislative changes in 2019 (upcoming Puharinen et al. 2023). In small hydropower operations, such an obligation for periodical permit review would provide an opportunity to consider dam removals and the expropriation of the operations against a case-specific full compensation as required in the Finnish Constitution. In large operations, these processes would likely lead to more stringent environmental conditions and requirements to build natural by-passes for migratory fish, to restore spawning grounds and other measures to mitigate the harm of the operations to riverine ecosystems. The operations would come to include more of the negative externalities of electricity generation into their operative costs. In mediumsized operations there would be cases in which economically feasible operation would seize making those rivers eligible for restoration. In other locations, the operations that could withstand the cost of mitigation measures would continue operations into foreseeable future.



### 5. Sectors in need of phase-out: peat production

#### Context

Peat extraction is a controversial activity from a water quality perspective as production of peat releases Dissolved Organic Carbon (DOC), humic substances, and nutrients to waters when the peatlands are drained for extraction. At the EU level, the aquatic impact of peat extraction is in the scope of application of the Water Framework Directive. In Finland, the Environmental Protection Act is the main regulatory instrument for managing the environmental impacts of peat extraction. Moreover, several other Acts regulate the different aspects of peat extraction, such as the Nature Protection Act (9/2023), the Environmental Impact Assessment Act (252/2017), and the Land Use and Building Act (132/1999).

#### **Policy lock-ins**

In the past, policy lock-ins related to the insufficient regulation of DOC and humic substances at the EU level, and questions of scientific uncertainty regarding the aquatic impact of peat extraction, especially considering similar emissions stemming from diffuse sources, such as ditching of peatland forests to boost the growth of wood (Belinskij 2015; Albrecht et al. 2023). At present, peat extraction for energy purposes is a declining activity in Finland. The main driver for this development is the EU's emission trading system, which is driving up the price of carbon emissions of energy production. This decreases the market demand for peat. New peat production permits are still issued, however, for the use of peat in animal husbandry and horticulture. This means that even though the energy demand for peat is decreasing with beneficial impact on climate change mitigation and water quality, alternative sources of market demand are developing and continue to support peat production. At present, peat production licenses do not set sufficiently stringent water quality requirements for peat operations and do not contain considerable restoration requirements for the permit holders after the operation.

#### **Solutions to lock-ins**

Despite the market demand for energy peat is decreasing, there is a trend for increasing peat production for other purposes. There is a need to develop more stringent measures to regulate both the licensing of peat production operations in the Environmental Protection Act and in terms of restoring once ditched and exploited sites after the lifespan of the operations. To this end, the water quality requirements in the Environmental Protection Act should pay increasing attention to DOC and humic substances, and the permits should contain obligations to restore peatlands by rewetting where biophysically feasible (see also Albrecht et al. 2023). A target year for the phase-out of peat land extraction should be established. The Finnish Climate Change Panel has suggested phasing out peat by 2030. By this time horizon it is also possible to develop substitutes for peat in animal husbandry and horticulture.



# 6. Cross-cutting policies: improving the bite of water and marine planning and management

#### Context

The EU Water Framework Directive requires all the EU member states to reach Good Ecological Status of inland surface waters, transitional waters, and coastal waters by 2015, or if postponed, by 2021, or 2027 the latest (WFD art. 4.1; Squintani and van Rijswick 2016; Puharinen 2021). Simultaneously, these waters are regulated by the non-deterioration clause, which requires EU member states to implement all necessary measures to prevent further deterioration of water bodies in their territory (WFD Article 4.1(a)(i); 4.1(b)(i)). The main instruments for implementing these goals are River-Basin Management Plans and Programmes of Measures, in which water bodies are analysed and classified by water body type and status, the main ecological trends and human pressures are recognized, and key measures to reach or maintain good status are stated.

In the marine domain, similar goals to the WFD are set by the Marine Strategy Framework Directive which states that marine waters must be in good environmental status by 2020. A key instrument under the directive are marine strategies that are produced in collaboration with the regional seas organisations, in the context of the Baltic Sea, with the Helsinki Commission (HELCOM).

Currently, Finland is not on path to reach the set good ecological/environmental status requirements in all marine and freshwater ecosystems, in the set timescales. The key reasons for this are related to 1) the waterbodies' naturally slow and varying response to management actions, 2) the incomplete and changing knowledge base that hinders making informed decisions and 3) the issues in policy and legal regulation.

# Lock-ins concerning ecological boundaries and nature's slow response time

Despite many efforts already, the good status is yet to be reached in many water bodies (particularly in coastal waters), and the progress has been slow. One reason for this is the slow recovery time of the ecosystems in the receiving waterbodies and the internal loading that persists the eutrophication development even when the external loading can be reduced (Carvalho et al. 2019; Heiskanen et al. 2019; Viitasalo and Bonsdorff, 2022, Hyytiäinen et al. 2023, in revision). Dimensioning and targeting of the measures need careful spatio-temporal consideration and understanding the sensitivity and resilience of the receiving waterbody. In addition, climate change increases water temperature and the more regular heavy rainfalls make it difficult to achieve the good status goals (see references in Puharinen 2021 for overview).

#### Lock-ins concerning insufficient and changing knowledge base

The status classification that is based on the surface water monitoring data, is the cornerstone of successful planning of water management. So far, the collected data has provided a massive amount of new knowledge on the status of Finnish waters. The implementation of the surface water monitoring has been, however, a challenging task especially in countries with a considerable number of waterbodies, such as Finland. Monitoring all waterbodies and all status class indicators with sufficient certainty has



been and continues to be an overwhelming endeavour in Finland. WFD's requirements coupled with the environmental administration's limited and diminishing monitoring resources has led to insufficient monitoring, high uncertainty in the status classification and poorly known effects of human pressures on the ecosystems.

Implementing the needed expensive, large-scale, and integrated management measures requires careful planning that can rely on reliable biophysical knowledge base. This means also assessing the ecosystem function and structure, not only the physico-chemical impacts, to better understand the mechanisms of the nonattainment and the status deterioration (Carvalho et al. 2019; Weigel et al. 2023). Not knowing the most sensitive or the most resilient waterbodies also impedes blue economic activities as the ecological potential and boundaries are unclear.

The uncertainty over impact assessments increases when the size of the project is large and duration long. An illustrative example of this is Supreme Administrative Court decision on Sokli mining project (KHO 2022:38). The environmental and water permit applications were rejected because of uncertainties of impact assessment and inadequate water protection measures. Generally speaking, the environmental impacts of mining projects are particularly context specific. The natural conditions of the location and the river basin, the minerals extracted, the technology used for extraction, as well as the enrichment and refining processes used all affect environmental impacts and vary from project to project. Moreover, the site of a mining project is determined by the location of the mineral deposit, which decreases possibilities to reduce environmental impacts by zoning, or other land-use planning measures. Environmental risks caused by mining are likely to increase in the future as the demand for minerals is increasing globally due to green and digital transitions. To reduce geopolitical risks on critical raw materials, the EU aims to enlarge extraction of minerals in European mineral rich countries like Finland. This puts increasing pressure on the biophysical knowledge base of river-basin management planning.

#### Lock-ins concerning policy and legal regulation

First, the WFD's ecological status goals are binding, especially in the licensing of new projects, but this is not sufficiently reflected in Finnish legislation, but only in legal practice. Deficiencies in the legislation make it difficult for different actors to assess what the law obliges them to do. This uncertainty, in turn, makes it difficult to translate obligations into concrete measures (Belinskij et al. 2018). On the MSFD's part, there is still significant ambiguity on whether the marine environmental status objectives are binding on Member States' marine policies in total and on the authorisation of specific projects. While meeting the aspirations of good marine environmental status and proper implementation of the Directive advocate for establishing binding legal implications and operational mechanism for the objectives at the level of national law, the Finnish legislation does not currently establish any binding obligations deriving from the marine management objectives (Puharinen et al. 2021; Puharinen 2023). The same is more or less true for the targets set under the Helsinki Agreement and under HELCOM: the goals may be binding on Finland as a state, but the country currently lacks legal implementation mechanisms to translate these state obligations to specific obligations for planning and permitting at the project development level.

Second, the concrete parts of the goals that obligate authorities and private operators are mainly operationalised through environmental and water permits. These goals do not extend to land use, which is key especially in the management of diffuse water pollution. With the help of individual water management measures, it is not possible to bring about extensive changes in practices and business models in various sectors if the legal system does not overall support this.



Third, the interpretation and implementation of the ecological status goals is always influenced by a bunch of other rights and legitimate societal expectations (Belinskij et al. 2018). For example, property rights of old operations, such as hydroelectric plants, protect property owners against significant changes to permits, at least not without compensation (Soininen et al. 2018). Even if the property rights do not altogether prevent taking effective water management measures, it means that, for example, the implementation of fish ways and the dismantling of dams can easily lead to a situation where the operator must be compensated for the harm caused by the changes (Hepola et al. 2023).

Fourth, environmental impact assessments of various projects often contain significant uncertainty (Paloniitty and Kotamäki 2021; Thorén et al. 2021). In this setting, the environmental impact assessment, often done with mathematical models and empirical data, plays an increasingly important role and the inevitable uncertainty of the assessment results can become a decisive issue. To receive the permit, the applicant must show with sufficient certainty that the WFD non-deterioration demand would not be violated within the timespan of the proposed project (40–50 years). At present, it is legally unclear in whose favour that uncertainty must be interpreted. The key question is whether the uncertainties of the environmental effects support the granting of a permit or the denial of a permit. It is also unclear what kind of information production and modelling methods can be used to assess the environmental impact of projects. In addition to high uncertainties, it is not well-established when models should be used or which models or what type of models are those to use. This leads to versatile ways of choosing and using the models which in turn leads to difficulties in assessing the reliability of the modelling process and model outputs.

Fifth, the impacts on water bodies of all key sectors are not legally regulated at all or are only loosely regulated. Good examples are drainage and ditching of peatland forests, which, in the light of recent research, has a key impact on the state of the waters.

#### **Solutions to lock-ins**

Considering the transition mechanisms established for analysing the future policy pathways, the key question is how to integrate the ecological considerations of the WFD into the sectoral planning and management of the different sectors of blue economy so that the sectors would not deteriorate the water status, or considerably hinder the achievement of good status, and that they would pay for the cost of their activities to water quantity and quality. Moreover, the environmental assessment criteria of the WFD and its River-Basin Management Planning should be evaluated based on their likelihood to be achieved using the current understanding of coastal and freshwater ecosystem responses under combined human pressure and climate change impacts. The WFD implementation processes could also lead to new economic opportunities for improving the status of waters if the private benefits gained and public harm inflicted on waters would be more evenly distributed. Ecological offsetting within and between the different sectors of the blue economy is one example of this.

In concrete terms, there are several changes to the Finnish water management policies implementing the WFD and MSFD that would require legislative and policy changes:

- The binding nature of water management goals should be reflected in the Water and Marine Management Act and pass the legislation of different sectors such as the Water Act, the Environmental Protection Act, and the Forest Act. Legislative work to this end has already started at the Ministry of the Environment.
- The binding goals of water management should be aimed not only at point source polluters controlled by means of permits, but also at diffuse polluters, such as agriculture and forestry. To this end, possibilities to develop a national nutrient



trading scheme that would put a price on emitted nitrogen and phosphorus and allow actors to decrease emissions where it is the cheapest. This may also require a broader policy reform in agriculture and forestry in order to avoid a situation in which the same emissions are regulated by multiple instruments.

- Legislation for changing permits should be re-evaluated to implement the goals of water management. In particular, the permanence of permits granted under the Water Act is challenging from the point of view of water management. Legislative work to tackle some of the observed legal deficits has already started at the Ministry of Justice.
- In connection with the overall reform of the land-use legislation, it should be assessed in what way the land use law to be prepared could better support the realization of water management goals. For instance, industrial areas should be zoned considering river-basing management plans and best available knowledge about water status and trends so that operations would cause as little risk to water status as possible. As there are significant differences in the ecological settings between different locations and in how the pressures impact on nearby waters, it is important to be able to identify in advance which are the most vulnerable sites, where no additional pressures should be placed. This would also speed up the oftenslow permit processes and would prevent making unnecessary impact assessment (that would anyway lead to high impact assessment uncertainties and permit rejection due to the project's initial misplacement).
- The data production and modelling methods used for environmental impact assessment should be regulated more precisely or at least given more detailed instructions. Fortunately, steps towards more coherent model assessments have already been taken by identifying the best modelling practice and model criteria in environmental impact assessments (Puntila-Dodd et al. 2022). In addition, a cooperative model guidance will be produced to assist environmental authorities and permit applicants to better understand the modelling process, model uncertainties and model output visualisations, and to help modellers produce more coherent and understandable modelling reports (Model Guidance project 2022).
- Resources should be put to systematically renew the traditional monitoring networks; new cost-efficient monitoring methods should be put in use, and the existing monitoring resources need to be allocated better (Kotamäki et al. 2019). The economic value of monitoring and improved status classification should be evaluated, and the knowledge base should be treated as an (economic) asset, not only as a cost (Koski et al. 2020). Efficient and coordinated use of new data measurement techniques (satellite data, automatic sensors, eDNA, citizen science etc.) for status classification should be promoted. The EU Commission should agree on how to continue after 2027, considering that ecological recovery times are long. The importance of monitoring and databases should be better acknowledged.

# 7. Synthesis

Synthesising our results, a societal transformation to sustainability requires a rethinking of economic activities so that value generation would not be in conflict, or would ideally support, international, European Union and Finnish policy aspirations to tackle deteriorating status of waters, loss of biodiversity, and climate change in tandem with their social and economic aspirations. This requires an increased focus on the couplings between policy sectors and a clear policy commitment to the environmental goals and economic renewal in the blue economic sectors. A key for successful policies to implement this is to search for co-benefits and to recognise potential trade-off between the economic sectors and the triple environmental goals, and to coin policies accordingly (Pascual et al. 2022).



To align the blue economic sectors with the triple environmental goals, we divided the sectors in three groups indicative of what the policies of these sectors would need to emphasise to support the co-benefits between the economic value generation and the triple environmental goals.

- Sectors with underutilised blue potentials: The category includes offshore wind power generation, and the transformation of underutilized fish stocks, such as cyprinids, for human consumption. Activities in this category can grow provided that the ecological trade-offs are managed.
- Sectors in need of decoupling of economic value generation and deterioration of waters: This category includes economic domains that serve key societal functions (e.g., food and energy production) but that should over time aspire toward zero-impact on the environment by way of technological, social, and governance innovation. The category includes agriculture, aquaculture, forestry, and large-scale hydropower. The growth of these sectors is contingent on the decoupling between production and the negative impact on the status of waters.
- Sectors in need of a controlled phase out. This category contains peat production and small-scale hydropower generation (less than 2 MW capacity). In the phase-out category, the ecological harm (ecological status of waters, biodiversity, and/or climate change) of the activity outweighs the socio-economic benefit that the sector produces. These activities should be phased out.

By utilising the three categories as a normative lens to blue economic policies, TRAGORA has sought to unpack the main types of policy lock-ins in each sector and offered both general and specific policy measures to manage the lock-ins. Effective policy measures are contingent on the type of policy lock-in as well as the social-ecological and policy circumstances of the sectors.

**First, some sectoral policies contain gaps** meaning that the economic sector in question is not sufficiently regulated to support its renewal towards the good ecological status of waters and other environmental and societal benefits. Examples include how the Finnish governance system regulates the aquatic impact of forest management (see section 4.3), and how Finland lacks policies to support the utilisation of underutilised fish-stocks for societal and environmental gains (see section 3.2).

**Second, some of the policies analysed were conflicting** leading to a situation where the businesses, governmental authorities, and civic actors are confused as to the future direction of the sector. This is clearly the case in the aquaculture sector which on the one hand is encouraged by EU and Finnish policy to grow considerably, but at the same time both the EU and Finland are committed to achieving ecological water status goals on a tight schedule (see section 4.2). This requires policy coordination across sectors coupled with technological development and support to drive a transition to novel technologies, such as recirculation operations. Moreover, this requires the integration of environmental considerations into the core of economic policies.

Third, still other policies contain unclear aspirations and requirements. For instance, it is quite unclear what kind of environmental impact assessment methods satisfy the requirements of the Environmental Protection Act and the Water Framework Directive in the context of permitting new operations, such as pulp mills and mining activities. The picture is even more unclear in relation to the Marine Strategy Framework Directive's objectives and how their overall aspiration for the status of the entire marine environment can be effectively operationalised in relation to managing different activities contributing to the cumulative pressure on the marine environment.



**Finally, there are mal-adaptive policies that are out of sync with the current policy and societal realities.** This is the case with the Finnish Water Act creating major hurdlhurdles for implementing the ecological status goals and restoring rivers to meet the requirements of the Water Framework Directive and the EU biodiversity strategy. Maladaptive policies require policy revision to bring past policies to date.

Despite policy lock-ins, all sectors in underutilised and decoupled categories contain promising societal and policy developments for increasing the co-benefits between the sector activities and the triple environmental goals.

Offshore wind power has great potential to grow in Finland's marine areas with considerable positive impact on climate change mitigation. After recent policy reforms. a key challenge concerns the specific location of these operations. In shallow sea areas, offshore wind power competes for space with biodiversity, including fish spawning or migration routes. In the exclusive economic zone the disadvantages of wind power generation to ship traffic, salmonid migration routes and marine biodiversity are highlighted. Strengthening the legal basis and updating the maritime spatial plans more frequently can offer a solution. Alternatively non-legally binding spatial plans specifically for the offshore wind power could be developed provided they have a clear linkage to water permitting of the operations. Also improving the implementation of the MSFD, particularly by strengthening the legal status in planning and permitting of specific activities (e.g., water management permitting of offshore wind power operations) could provide a mechanism to translate the general marine environmental protection aspirations into concrete legal norms in the development of the sector. The purpose of the plan would be to guide decision-makers in issuing binding water management permits for the operations.

Increasing use of sustainable, underutilised fish in human diets plays a part in the climate-friendly transformation of food systems. This is the case particularly if the fishing fleet can be modernised to use fossil-free fuel. Fishing can be also an important lake system and marine management and fish population control measure. For example, the increase of cyprinids as a part of the eutrophication and warming could allow targeting fishing practises and supporting their use as protein source for humans. Breaking eutrophication cycles also supports the achievement of biodiversity goals.

Agriculture changes natural environments to managed environments. Cultivation is based on planting of crops and fertilization to promote growth. Thus, agricultural production affects the water and carbon cycles of land as well as biodiversity. Many of current agricultural practices cause nutrient runoff decreases water quality, greenhouse gas emissions boosting climate change and decrease biodiversity through land-use change. The agriculture sector can be tuned to the triple planetary boundaries by three sets of measures. First, by switching to conservation practices agriculture can mitigate these impacts and provide positive solutions to the triple environmental challenges. Rewetting and paludiculture provides the single and most important practice in Finland that promotes all three goals. Increasing water level roughly to 30 cm from the soil surface reduces radically carbon release from peat, reduces nutrient loads and, depending on the choice of crops, may also promote wetland plants, such as cranberries. Second, shifting to innovative and more efficient cultivation solutions provides another solution to promote the triple goals. These innovative solutions comprise among others precision farming, vertical farming, and cellular cultivation. They directly reduce GHG emissions and nutrient loading and by decreasing land area needed for cultivation, they facilitate giving more land to nature thus helping biodiversity. A shift to climate-friendly diets and demand for sustainable food would promote the shift the new solutions. Third, agriculture, plays key role in saving the traditional biotopes, which belong to the rarest biodiversity hotspots. These habitats are highly valued by the society, and payments for ecosystem services from traditional



### BlueAdapt

biotopes are well-justified. Carbon farming in mineral soils reduces soil carbon release and may even increase soil carbon. Interestingly, it may also promote below surface biodiversity of microbes, which may increase crop yields. Thus, carbon farming enlarges the promotion of agricultural biodiversity to above and below soil biodiversity. Many traditional yet practices, such as conservation tillage, crop rotation, use of legumes and use of deep-root crops, if used at a larger scale improve soil health and contribute indirectly to all three targets.

Forestry has a large impact on the Finnish nature. Save nature conservation sites, practically all land in Finland is subject to forest management and its impacts. Forestry has changed forest structures, and decreased the amounts of wetlands, as large areas have been ditched for forestry. The biggest challenge in water protection lies in reducing nutrient and sediments loads from ditched peatland forests. The suggested shift to continuous cover forestry eliminates the need for ditch network cleaning, nutrient and sediment loading decreases and at the same time peat release decreases. Continuous cover forestry is not as such a biodiversity solution even though forest remains as closed over time, but it can be included structural features promoting decaying wood and other required features.

The fish farming sector's impact on climate, biodiversity and environmental quality depends highly on the location of the operation and the technology used. In terms of climate change mitigation, the impact of fish protein production heavily depends on the types of protein it is compared against. Compared to red meat, farmed fish fares reasonably well, but the comparison is less conclusive otherwise. In terms of biodiversity, aquaculture can take some pressure away from overfished natural fish stocks but at the same time particularly open pen aquaculture's nutrient emissions to the Baltic Sea can negate this positive effect on biodiversity as eutrophication is the number one reason for biodiversity loss in the Baltic Sea. Increasing policy effort is needed to manage the overall nutrient emissions to the Baltic Sea (e.g., by sector specific nutrient quotas and strengthening the legal operationalisation of the MSFD's objectives and environmental targets), which would not only improve the ecological/environmental status of coastal and marine waters but also biodiversity.

Considering the hydropower sector, the key challenge is that river flows in Finland have been almost entirely allocated to hydropower generation. Consequently, river biodiversity and ecological status are struggling to meet the EU biodiversity and water quality targets despite hydropower playing a role for achieving the EU climate change mitigation targets. To help decouple some of the negative impact of the hydropower sector to river biodiversity and ecological status, one promising policy measure would be to coin a national plan for removing hydropower installations with less than 2 MW capacity. This would mean removing some 500 dams across the country. The estimated losses would be some 83 MW of hydropower generation capacity with 332 GWH annual electricity output. Some estimates suggest that this would mean that roughly 1-2 % of the Finnish hydropower generation capacity would be lost. Very few of these less than 2 MW operations have technical capabilities to participate in regulating the frequency in the electricity grid. If all the dam removals would be connected to habitat restoration measures, these removals and the national plan could have a significant ecological impact towards Finland meeting the EU biodiversity and water status goals without compromising the ability of the hydropower sector to cater for climate change mitigation objectives and balancing the frequency of the electricity grid.

Finally, peat production is detrimental to all the environmental goals in focus here. Burning of peat for energy is highly carbon intensive for which reason the EU Emission Trading System is putting significant pressure to out phase peat as a source of energy. Peat production is also detrimental to biodiversity as it typically transforms a wet



#### BlueAdapt

peatland into a dry field completely changing the ecological makeup of the area. In terms of water quality, peat production produces DOC, humic substances, and nutrients, all of which deteriorate the ecological quality of waters. As all the environmental criteria are negative for peat production, Finland should develop a plan on how to close the industry and restore the ditched peatlands by rewetting and other measures where biophysically feasible.

New policies and changes to existing policies operating under these recommendations would make a marked improvement in the current blue economic policy setting both for people and nature. While some of our policy suggestions for the development of the blue economic sector policies will take time, some others are implementable already now, with ample support from research and practice.



## References

AFRY, Finnish Energy. (2020). Low carbon roadmap, Technical Report 2020. Energiateollisuus ry (ET).

Albrecht, E., Hannonen, O., Palacín-Lizarbe, C., Suni, J., Härkönen, L., Soininen, N., Kukkonen, J., and Vainikka, A. (2023). "Browning of Boreal Lakes: Do Public Perceptions and Governance Align with the Biological Foundations?" Ecological Applications e2856. https://doi.org/10.1002/eap.2856

Ahopelto, L., Veijalainen, N., Guillaume, J., Keskinen, M., Marttunen, M., & Varis, O. (2019). Can there be water scarcity with abundance of water? Analyzing water stress during a severe drought in Finland. Sustainability, 11(6), 1548. https://doi.org/10.3390/su11061548

Ahtikoski, A., Salminen, H., Hökkä, H., Kojola, S., & Penttilä, T. (2012). Optimising Stand Management on peatlands: The case of northern finland. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 42(2), 247–259. https://doi.org/10.1139/x11-174

Belinskij, Antti. (2015). Turvetuotanto oikeudellisessa murroskohdassa. Ympäristöpolitiikka ja -oikeus VIII 2015 s. 11–62 2.12.2015

Belinskij, Antti & Soininen, Niko (2023) Merialueella tapahtuvan kalankasvatuksen ympäristöluvituksen oikeudelliset suuntaviivat korkeimman hallinto-oikeuden ja Vaasan hallinto-oikeuden oikeuskäytännön valossa. Luonnonvarakeskuksen julkaisuja.

Belinskij, A., Aroviita, J., Kauppila, J., Kymenvaara, S., Leino, L., Mäenpää, M., Raitanen, E., Soininen, N. (2018). Vesienhoidon ympäristötavoitteista poikkeaminen – perusteet ja menettely. Valtioneuvoston kanslia. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-287-548-8

Bregnballe, J. (2015). A guide to recirculation aquaculture - An introduction to the new environmentally friendly and highly productive closed fish farming systems. http://www.fao.org/3/a-i4626e.pdf

Carvalho, L.; Mackay, E.B.; Cardoso, A.C.; Baattrup-Pedersen, A.; Birk, S.; Blackstock, K.L.; Borics, G.; Borja, A.; Feld, C.K.; Ferreira, M.T.; Globevnik, L.; Grizzetti, B.; Hendry, S.; Hering, D.; Kelly, M.; Langaas, S.; Meissner, K.; Panagopoulos, Y.; Penning, E.; Rouillard, J.; Sabater, S.; Schmedtje, U.; Spears, B.M.; Venohr, M.; van de Bund, W.; Lyche Solheim, A. (2019). Protecting and restoring Europe's waters: An analysis of the future development needsof the Water Framework Directive. Science of the Total Environment 658: 1228-12238. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2018.12.255

Council of State in Finland (2019), The Govermental Programme of Prime Minister Sanna Marin. Valtioneuvoston julkaisuja 2019:31

Eikeset, A.M., Mazzarella,A.B., Davíðsdóttir, B., Klinger, H.D., Levin, S.A., Rovenskaya, E., Stenseth, C. (2018). What is blue growth? The semantics of "Sustainable Development" of marine environments, Marine Policy, Volume 87, 2018, p.177-179, ISSN 0308-597X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2017.10.019.

Energiateollisuus (2023). Miksi vesivoima? Energiateollisuus website. https://energia.fi/energiasta/vastuullisuus/miksi\_vesivoima.



European Commission. (2020) 741. An EU Strategy to harness the potential of offshore renewable energy for a climate neutral future. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions.

European Commission. (2021). 240 final. A new approach for a sustainable blue economy in the EU. Transforming the EU's Blue Economy for a Sustainable Future. Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions.

European Commission (2015). Commission Staff Working Document 'Report on the progress in implementation of the Water Framework Directive Programmes of Measures' SWD (2015) 50 final; Commission 2019, SWD(2019) 46 final, p. 140.

FAO, IFAD, UNICEF, WFP and WHO. 2018. The State of Food Security and Nutrition in the World 2018. Building climate resilience for food security and nutrition. Rome, FAO. https://www.fao.org/3/I9553EN/i9553en.pdf

Finér, L, Lepistö, A, Karlsson, K, Räike, A, Tattari, S, Huttunen, M, Härkönen, L, Joensuu, S, Kortelainen, P, Mattsson, T, Piirainen, S, Sarkkola, S, Sallantaus, T., & Ukonmaanaho L. (2020). Metsistä ja soilta tuleva vesistökuormitus 2020. Valtioneuvoston selvitys- ja tutkimustoiminnan julkaisusarja 2020:6. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-287-826-7

Finér, L., Lepistö, A., Karlsson, K., Räike, A., Härkönen, L., Huttunen, M., Joensuu, S., Kortelainen, P., Mattsson, T., Piirainen, S., Sallantaus, T., Sarkkola, S., Tattari, S., & Ukonmaanaho, L. (2021). Drainage for forestry increases N, P and TOC export to boreal surface waters. Science of The Total Environment, 762, 144098. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.144098

Finnish Environment Institute (Suomen ympäristökeskus) (2022). Rehevöittävä kuormitus; https://www.vesi.fi/vesitieto/rehevoittava-kuormitus/ (retrieved June 10, 2023).

Finnish Environment Institute (Suomen ympäristökeskus) (2023) Sisävesien ekologinen tila enimmäkseen hyvä [https://www.ymparisto.fi/fi/ympariston-tila/vesi/sisavesien-ekologinen-tila]

Fleming, Vivi, Berninger, Kati, Aikola, Tuuli, Huttunen, Markus, Iho, Antti, Kuosa, Harri, Niskanen, Lauri, Piiparinen, Jonna, Räike, Antti, Salo, Matti, Sarkkola, Sakari ja Valve, Helena (2023) Rannikkovesien ravinteiden kuormituskatot ja kuormituksen vähentämisen keinoja: Loppuraportti. Valtioneuvoston selvitys- ja tutkimustoiminnan julkaisusarja: 2023:45.

Galparsoro, I., Menchaca, I., Garmendia, J.M. et al. Reviewing the ecological impacts of offshore wind farms. npj Ocean Sustain 1, 1 (2022). https://doi.org/10.1038/ s44183-022-00003-5

Geels, F.W., Schot, J. (2007). Typology of sociotechnical transition pathways, Research Policy, Volume 36, Issue 3, 2007, p. 399-417, ISSN 0048-7333, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.respol.2007.01.003.



Ghosh, B., Kivimaa, P., Ramirez, M., Schot, J., Torrens, J. (2021) 'Transformative Outcomes: assessing and reorienting experimentation with transformative innovation policy' Science and Public Policy, Scab 045.Granskog, A., Gulli, C., Melgin, T., Naucler, T., Speelman, E., Toivola, L., & Walter, D. (2018). Cost-efficient emission reduction pathway to 2030 for Finland - Opportunities in electrification and beyond (Report No. 140). The Finnish Innovation Fund Sitra. https://www.sitra.fi/app/uploads/2018/11/cost-efficient-emission-reduction-pathway-to-2030-for-finland.pdf

Haapasaari, P., Ignatius, S., Pihlajamäki, M., Bryhn, A., Sarkki, S., Tuomisto, J., ... & Kuikka, S. (2021). Integrated governance for managing multidimensional problems: Potentials, challenges, and arrangements. Marine Policy, 123, 104276.

Haapasaari, P., Ignatius, S., Pihlajamäki, M., Sarkki, S. Tuomisto, J. & Delaney, A. (2019). How to improve governance of a complex social-ecological problem? Dioxins in Baltic salmon and herring, Journal of Environmental Policy & Planning, 21:6, 649-661, DOI: 10.1080/1523908X.2019.1661236

Heikkinen Essi 2019. The Finnish Blue Economy: Definition and Econmic Significance. Master Thesis. University of Helsinki.

Heiskanen, AS., Bonsdorff, E., Joas, M. 2019: Baltic Sea: A Recovering Future from Decades of Eutrophication. In: Wolanski, E., Elliot, M., Day, J., Ramachandran, R. (Eds.) Coasts and Estuaries: The Future, Burlington, Elsevier, pp. 341-362. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-814003-1.00020-4G

Hepola, M., Belinskij, A., Määttä, T. (2021). Ajat ovat muuttumassa – ympäristöperusoikeuden evoluutio vesivoimalupien pysyvyyden näkökulmasta. Ympäristöjuridiikka 1–2/2021 s. 7–42

Heldbo (ed.) 2013. Bat for fiskeopdræt i Norden - Bedste tilgængelige teknologier for Akvakultur i Norden. TemaNord 2013: 529. http://dx.doi.org/10.6027/TN2013-529

Hyytiäinen, K., Huttunen, I., Kotamäki, N., Kuosa, H. and Ropponen, J. Achieving good ecological status of coastal ecosystems – are current goals realistic? (2023) Submitted.

Häggblom, O., Härkönen, L., Joensuu, S., Keskisarja, V., & Äijö, H. (2020, May 4). Maa- ja metsätalouden vesitalouden suuntaviivat muuttuvassa ympäristössä. Maa- ja metsätalousministeriön julkaisuja 2020(6). http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-366-186-8

Hanstén, M., Haapasaari, P., & Kuikka, S. (2021). A realist evaluation of the individual transferable quota system used in Finnish herring fisheries. ICES Journal of Marine Science, 78(10), 3603-3614.

Härkönen, L., Lepistö, A., Sarkkola, S., Kortelainen, P., Räike, A. (2023). Reviewing peatland forestry: Implications and mitigation measures for freshwater ecosystem browning. Forest ecology and management 531: 120776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2023.120776

Huttunen, I., Lehtonen, H., Huttunen, M., Piirainen, V., Korppoo, M., Veijalainen, N., Viitasalo, M., & Vehviläinen, B. (2015). Effects of climate change and agricultural adaptation on nutrient loading from Finnish catchments to the Baltic Sea. Science of The Total Environment, 529, 168–181. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.055





Huttunen, I., Hyytiäinen, K., Huttunen, M., Sihvonen, M., Veijalainen, N., Korppoo, M., Heiskanen, A-S. (2021). Agricultural nutrient loading under alternative climate, societal and manure recycling scenarios. Science of the Total Environment 783: 146871. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2021.146871

Hyytiäinen, K., Kolehmainen, L., Amelung, B., Kok, K., Lonkila, K.-M., Malve, O., Similä, J., Sokero, M., & Zandersen, M. (2022). Extending the shared socioeconomic pathways for adaptation planning of Blue Tourism. Futures, 137, 102917. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.futures.2022.102917

Ignatius S., & Haapasaari P. (2016). Addressing socio-cultural values in the use and management of Baltic herring. In: A. S. Olsson, S. M. Araujo & M. Fatima Vieira (eds). Food futures: ethics, science and culture, 233–238. EurSafe, Wageningen Academic Publishers. https://doi.org/10.3920/978-90-8686-834-6\_35

Iho, A., Soininen, N., Vehviläinen, I., Koljonen, S., Artell, J., & Belinskij, A. (2022). Rivers under pressure: Interdisciplinary feasibility analysis of sustainable hydropower. Environmental Policy and Governance, 33(2), 191–205. https://doi.org/10.1002/eet.2013

Iho A., Valve H., Ekholm P., Uusitalo R., Lehtoranta J., Soinne H. & Salminen J. 2023. Efficient protection of the Baltic Sea needs a revision of phosphorus metric. Ambio, https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-023-01851-2

International Energy Agency. (2020). Key electricity trends 2020. Annual trends from OECD countries. https://www.iea.org/articles/key-electricity-trends-2020. Retrieved [March 01, 2022].

International Energy Agency. (2019). Offshore Wind Outlook 2019. IEA. www.iea.org/ reports/offshore-wind-outlook-2019. Retrieved [March 01, 2022].

International Energy Agency. (2018). World Energy Outlook 2018. IEA. https://www.iea.org/reports/world-energy-outlook-2018

Kauppila, J., Ekholm, P., Niskanen, O., Valve, H., & Iho, A. (2017). Muuttuva kotieläintalous ja vesistökuormituksen sääntely [Evolving livestock production and the regulation of agricultural water pollution]. 227–273. Ympäristöpolitiikan ja -oikeuden vuosikirja.

Keramidas, K., Diaz Vazquez, A., Weitzel, M., Vandyck, T., Tamba, M., Tchung-Ming, S., Soria-Ramirez, A., Krause, J., Van Dingenen, R., Chai, Q., Fu, S. and Wen, X. (2020). Global Energy and Climate Outlook 2019: Electrification for the low carbon transition. Publications Office of the European Union.

Kivimaa, P., & Kern, F. (2016). Creative destruction or mere niche support? Innovation policy mixes for sustainability transitions. Research policy, 45(1), 205-217.

Koljonen, T., Aakkula, J., Honkatukia, J., Soimakallio, S., Haakana, M., Hirvelä, H., Kilpeläinen, H., Kärkkäinen, L., Laitila, J., Lehtilä, A., Lehtonen, H., Maanavilja, L., Ollila, P., Siikavirta, H., & Tuomainen, T. (2020). Hiilineutraali Suomi 2035 - Skenaariot ja vaikutusarviot. VTT Technical Research Centre of Finland.



Koski, V., Kotamäki, N., Hämäläinen, H., Meissner, K., Karvanen, J., & Kärkkäinen, S. (2020). The value of perfect and imperfect information in Lake Monitoring and management. Science of The Total Environment, 726, 138396. https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.scitotenv.2020.138396

Korpinen, S., Laamanen, M., Suomela, J., Paavilainen, P., Lahtinen, T., & Ekebom, J. (editors) (2019). Suomen meriympäristön tila 2018. SYKEN JULKAISUJA 4. 248 pp. https:// helda.helsinki.fi/handle/10138/274086

Kotamäki, N., Järvinen, M., Kauppila, P., Korpinen, S., Lensu, A., Malve, O., Mitikka, S., Silander, J., & Kettunen, J. (2019). A practical approach to improve the statistical performance of Surface Water Monitoring Networks. Environmental Monitoring and Assessment, 191(6). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10661-019-7475-3

Ladenburg, J. (2008). Attitudes towards on-land and offshore wind power development in Denmark; choice of development strategy. Renewable Energy, 33(1), 111–118. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2007.01.011

Laine C., Ollikainen M., Kankainen, M., Setälä, J., Vielma J. 2023. Social net benefits from aquaculture production: a comparison of net cage cultivation and recirculating aquaculture systems. Aquaculture Economics & Management: doi: 10.1080/13657305.2023.2222681

Lång et al. (2022, April 21). Turvemaiden käytön vaihtoehdot hiilineutraalissa Suomessa. Suomen ilmastopaneelin raportti, 2/2022. http://hdl.handle.net/10138/343207

Lankoski, J., & Ollikainen, M. (2013). Counterfactual Approach for Assessing Agrienvironmental policy: The case of the Finnish Water Protection Policy. Revue d'Études En Agriculture Et Environnement, 94(02), 165–193.

Lazarevic, D., & Valve, H. (2020). Niche politics: biogas, technological flexibility and the economisation of resource recovery. Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, 35, 45-59.

Laukkanen, M., & Nauges, C. (2014). Evaluating greening farm policies: A structural model for assessing agri-environmental subsidies. Land Economics, 90(3), 458–481. https://doi.org/10.3368/le.90.3.458

Lemola, R., Uusitalo, R., Luostarinen, S., Tampio, E., Laakso, J., Lehtonen, E., Skyttä, A. ja Turtola, E. 2023. Fosforin kierrätyksen tarve ja potentiaali kasvintuotannossa. Synteesiraportti.

Luonnonvara- ja biotalouden tutkimus 10/2023. Luonnonvarakeskus. Levitt, A. C., Kempton, W., Smith, A. P., Musial, W., & Firestone, J. (2011). Pricing offshore wind power. Energy Policy, 39(10), 6408–6421. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enpol.2011.07.044

Lichtenberg E. 2002. Agriculture and the Environment. In n Handbook of Agricultural Economics, 2002, vol. 2, Part 1, pp 1249-1313. Elsevier.

Lötjönen, S., & Ollikainen, M. (2019). Multiple-pollutant cost-efficiency: Coherent water and climate policy for agriculture. Ambio, 48(11), 1304–1313. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01257-z



Lund, P., Tsupari, E., Heliste, P., Lipsanen, A., Aristo, A., & Kivimaa, P. (2021). Soiden Ennallistamisen suoluonto-, vesistö-, ja ilmastovaikutukset. Vertaisarvioitu Raportti. Suomen Luontopaneelin Julkaisuja. https://doi.org/10.17011/jyx/slj/2021/3b

Marine Strategy of Finland (2021) Suomen merenhoitosuunnitelman toimenpideohjelma vuosille 2022–2027 (2021). Toimittajat: Maria Laamanen, Janne Suomela, Jan Ekebom, Samuli Korpinen, Pekka Paavilainen, Titta Lahtinen, Satu Nieminen & Anna Hernberg. Ympäristöministeriö Helsinki 2021:30.

Marjomäki, T. J., Keskinen, T., & Karjalainen, J. (2016). The potential ecologically sustainable yield of vendace (Coregonus albula) from large Finnish lakes. Hydrobiologia, 780(1), 125–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-016-2783-x

Marques, P., Morgan, K., and Richardson, R. (2018) 'Social innovation in question: The theoretical and practical implications of a contested concept' 36(3) Environment and Planning C: Politics and Space, 496–512.

Miettinen J., Ollikainen M., Juutinen A., Siipilehto J, Stenberg L., Ahtikoski A., Hökkä H., Sarkkola S., Nieminen M. (2022). Strip harvesting in drained boreal peatlands when climate impacts and water quality matter. In preparation.

Miettinen, J., Ollikainen, M., Aroviita, J., Haikarainen, S., Nieminen, M., Turunen, J., & Valsta, L. (2020). Boreal peatland forests: Ditch Network Maintenance Effort and water protection in a forest rotation framework. Canadian Journal of Forest Research, 50(10), 1025–1038. https://doi.org/10.1139/cjfr-2019-0339

Miettinen, J., Ollikainen, M., Nieminen, M., & Valsta, L. (2020). Cost function approach to water protection in forestry. Water Resources and Economics, 31, 100150. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wre.2019.100150

Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, 2016. Kasvua vesiosaamisesta ja vesiluonnonvarojen kestävästä hyödyntämisestä: Sinisen biotalouden kansallinen kehittämissuunnitelma 2025.

Nieminen, M., Sallantaus, T., Ukonmaanaho, L., Nieminen, T. M., & Sarkkola, S. (2017). Nitrogen and phosphorus concentrations in discharge from drained peatland forests are increasing. Science of The Total Environment, 609, 974–981. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.210

Nieminen, M., Hökkä, H., Laiho, R., Juutinen, A., Ahtikoski, A., Pearson, M., Kojola, S., Sarkkola, S., Launiainen, S., Valkonen, S., Penttilä, T., Lohila, A., Saarinen, M., Haahti, K., Mäkipää, R., Miettinen, J., & Ollikainen, M. (2018a). Could continuous cover forestry be an economically and environmentally feasible management option on drained boreal peatlands? Forest Ecology and Management, 424, 78–84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.foreco.2018.04.046

Nieminen, M., Piirainen, S., Sikström, U., Löfgren, S., Marttila, H., Sarkkola, S., Laurén, A., & Finér, L. (2018b). Ditch network maintenance in peat-dominated boreal forests: Review and analysis of Water Quality Management Options. Ambio, 47(5), 535–545. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-018-1047-6

Nieminen, M., Sarkkola, S., Hasselquist, E. M., & Sallantaus, T. (2021). Long-term nitrogen and phosphorus dynamics in waters discharging from forestry-drained and undrained boreal peatlands. Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 232(9). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-021-05293-y



Nieminen, M., Sarkkola, S., Hellsten, S., Marttila, H., Piirainen, S., Sallantaus, T., & Lepistö, A. (2018). Increasing and decreasing nitrogen and phosphorus trends in runoff from drained peatland forests—is there a legacy effect of drainage or not? Water, Air, & Soil Pollution, 229(8). https://doi.org/10.1007/s11270-018-3945-4

Niskanen, O., Valtiala, J., Wejberg, H., Torvinen, M. ja Karhula T. 2022. Kiinteistörakennetta kehittämällä kestävyyttä viljelyyn KIVAPELTO-hankkeen loppuraportti Olli Niskanen, Juho Valtiala, Henrik Wejberg, Mikael Torvinen ja Timo Karhula. Luonnonvara- ja biotalouden tutkimus 93/2022

Paloniitty, T. and Kotamäki, N. 2021. Scientific and Legal Mechanisms for Addressing Model Uncertainties: Negotiating the Right Balance in Finnish Judicial Review? Journal of Environmental Law 2:2021 https://doi.org/10.1093/jel/eqab001

Pappila, M. & Puharinen, S. (2022). Meriluonnon suojelun sääntely: Merellisen luonnon suojelun, merenhoidon ja vesienhoidon yhteensovittaminen EU- ja Suomen oikeudessa. Ympäristöministeriön julkaisuja 2022:8

Peltonen, H., & Weigel, B. (2022). Responses of coastal fishery resources to rapid environmental changes. Fish Biology 101 (3): 686-698. https://doi.org/10.1111/jfb.15138

Pihlajamäki, M., Sarkki, S., & Haapasaari, P. (2018). Food Security and Safety in Fisheries Governance – A case study on Baltic Herring. Marine Policy, 97, 211–219. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2018.06.003

Puharinen, S. (2023), Achieving good marine environmental status in the EU – Implications of the marine strategy framework directive for member states and blue economic activities. Marine Policy Volume 155, September 2023, 105712. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2023.105712

Puharinen, S., Belinskij, A., Soininen, N., (2023). Adapting hydropower to EU water law: flexible governance vs. Legal effectiveness in Sweden and Finland. In review. Puharinen, S. (2021). Good Status in the Changing Climate?—Climate Proofing Law on Water Management in the EU. Sustainability 2021, 13(2), 517; https://doi.org/10.3390/ sul3020517

Puharinen et al., (2021) 'Suomen merenhoitolainsäädännön toimivuustarkastelu – Merenhoidon tavoitteet ja niistä poikkeaminen'. Ympäristöministeriön julkaisuja 2021:14.

Puntila-Dodd, R., Kotamäki, N., Juntunen, J., Tolkkinen, M., Kuosa, H., Varjopuro, R., Lauri, H., Vähänen, K., Suominen, F., Airaksinen, J., Saario, M., Soininen, N., Puharinen, S-T., & Belinskij, A. (2022). Kriteereistä selkeyttä uusien hankkeiden ympäristövaikutusten mallintamiseen: VESIMALLIT-hankkeen loppuraportti. Valtioneuvoston selvitys- ja tutkimustoiminnan julkaisusarja 2022/13. http://urn.fi/URN:ISBN:978-952-383-221-3

PuuMaVesi. (2021). Puupohjaisilla uusilla materiaaleilla tehoa metsätalouden vesiensuojeluun ja vesistökunnostuksiin. PuuMaVesi-hankkeen loppuraportti 2021. https://www.syke.fi/hankkeet/puumavesi

Rankinen, K., Keinänen, H., & Cano Bernal, J. E. (2016). Influence of climate and land use changes on nutrient fluxes from Finnish rivers to the Baltic Sea. Agriculture, Ecosystems & Environment, 216, 100–115. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.agee.2015.09.010

Read, P., Fernandes, T. (2003). Management of environmental impacts of marine aquaculture in Europe, Aquaculture, Vol 226, Issues 1–4, 2003, Pages 139-163, ISSN 0044-8486, https://doi.org/10.1016/S0044-8486(03)00474-5.



Räike, A., Taskinen, A., & Knuuttila, S. (2019). Nutrient export from Finnish rivers into the Baltic Sea has not decreased despite water protection measures. Ambio, 49(2), 460–474. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13280-019-01217-7

Squintani, L.,van Rijswick, H. (2016). Improving Legal Certainty and Adaptability in the Programmatic Approach, Journal of Environmental Law, Volume 28, Issue 3, November 2016, Pages 443–470, https://doi.org/10.1093/jel/eqw022Shortle, J., Ollikainen, M., & Iho, A. (2021). Economics and policy for water pollution control. Water Quality and Agriculture, 17–74. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-47087-6\_2

Similä J., Soininen N., and Paukku E. (2022) Towards sustainable blue energy production: an analysis of legal transformative and adaptive capacity. Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law, Vol 41, Issue 1, https://doi.org/10.1080/02646811.2021.1875687

Skerlep, M. (2021). Changing land cover as a driver of surface water browning. Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Biology. Lund University. https://portal.research.lu.se/en/publications/changing-land-cover-as-a-driver-of-surface-water-browning

Smith, A., & Raven, R. (2012). What is protective space? Reconsidering niches in transitions to sustainability. Research policy, 41(6), 1025-1036.

Soininen, N., Belinskij, A., Similä, J., Kortet, R. (2019). Too important to fail? Evaluating legal adaptive capacity for increasing coastal and marine aquaculture production in EU-Finland, Marine Policy, Vol 110, 2019, 103498, ISSN 0308-597X, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.marpol.2019.04.002.

Soininen, Niko, Belinskij, Antti, Vainikka, Anssi & Huuskonen, Hannu (2018). Bringing Back Ecological Flows: Migratory Fish, Hydropower and Legal Maladaptivity in the Governance of Finnish Rivers. 44(3) Water International, 321–336.

Soininen, N., Romppanen, S., Huhta, K., Belinskij, A. (2021). A brake or an accelerator? The role of law in sustainability transitions, Environmental Innovation and Societal Transitions, Volume 41, 2021, P. 71-73, ISSN 2210-4224, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.eist.2021.09.012.Tattari, S., & Leinonen, A. (2017). Malliperheen sovellus Puruveden vesistöalueelle. Metsähallitus.

Thorén, H., Soininen, N. and Kotamäki, N. 2021. Scientific models in legal judgements: The relationship between law and environmental science as problem-feeding. Environmental Science and Policy 124 (2021) 478–484 https://doi.org/10.1016/ j.envsci.2021.07.018

UN 2017: The Sustainable Development Goals Report. United Nations, 2017. https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/files/report/2017/thesustainabledevelopmentgoalsreport2017.pdf

Upham, P. et al. (2014) 'Climate policy innovation: a sociotechnical transitions perspective' 23(5) Environmental Politics, 774–794.

Valve, H., Lukkarinen, J., Matikka, V., Auvinen, H., Lähteenoja, S. Marttila, T. 2019. Kohti kestävän sinisen biotalouden murrosta Pohjois-Savossa: Murrospolut ja tarvittavat toimenpiteet. Savonia ammattikorkeakoulun julkaisuja 1/2019.

Valve, H., Ekholm, P., & Luostarinen, S. (2020). The circular nutrient economy: Needs and potentials of nutrient recycling. Handbook of the Circular Economy, 358–368. https://doi.org/10.4337/9781788972727.00037



Valve, H., Taipale, K., Ekholm, P., Kauppila, J., Koikkalainen, K. & Miettinen, A. 2022. Maatalouden ravinnetietovaranto – työkalu viranomaisille ja viljelijöille. Suomen ympäristökeskuksen raportteja 4/2022.

Valve, H., Lazarevic, D., Hyysalo, S., Lukkarinen, J., Marttila, T. 2023. The interrupting capacities of knowledge co-production experiments: A sociology of testing approach. Environmental Science & Policy 147: 255–264. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envsci.2023.06.019.

Viitasalo, M. and Bonsdorff, E.: Global climate change and the Baltic Sea ecosystem: direct and indirect effects on species, communities and ecosystem functioning, Earth Syst. Dynam., 13, 711–747, https://doi.org/10.5194/esd-13-711-2022, 2022

Vuorio, K., Järvinen, M., & Kotamäki, N. (2020). Phosphorus thresholds for bloom-forming cyanobacterial taxa in Boreal Lakes. Hydrobiologia, 847(21), 4389–4400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10750-019-04161-5

Västilä, K., Väisänen, S., Koskiaho, J., Lehtoranta, V., Karttunen, K., Kuussaari, M., Järvelä, J., & Koikkalainen, K. (2021). Agricultural Water Management using two-stage channels: Performance and policy recommendations based on Northern European experiences. Sustainability, 13(16), 9349. https://doi.org/10.3390/su13169349

Weigel, B., Kotamäki, N., Malve, O., Vuorio, K., & Ovaskainen, O. (2023). Macrosystem community change in lake phytoplankton and its implications for diversity and function. Global Ecology and Biogeography, 32, 295–309. https://doi.org/10.1111/geb.13626

Winland. (2018). Kuivuus koettelee myös Suomea. Olemmeko tarpeeksi varautuneita?, Winland-hankkeen Policy Brief VII. https://winlandtutkimus.fi/wp-content/ uploads/2019/05/kuivuusbriiffi.pdf

Ympäristöministeriö (2014). Toissijaisten ympäristö vastuujärjestelmien kehittäminen Työryhmän mietintö, Ympäristöministeriön raportteja 23/2014.





#### Konsortiopartnerit



HELSINGIN YLIOPISTO









Hankkeen mahdollistaa

